SB 191 .W5 B7 1922 Copy 1

THE GENETICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND OF DENSITY IN WHEAT, AND THE RELATION OF THESE TO OTHER CHARACTERS

SARKIS BOSHNAKIAN, M. S. in Agr.

1

A Thesis Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Cornell University, March 1920, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Reprint of Memoir 53, (May 1922), Cornell University

Agricultural Experiment Station



MAY, 1922

MEMOIR 53

.

ġ,

CORNELL UNIVERSITY AGRICULTURAL EXPERIMENT STATION

THE GENETICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND OF DENSITY IN WHEAT, AND THE RELATION OF THESE TO OTHER CHARACTERS

SARKIS BOSHNAKIAN

ITHACA, NEW YORK PUBLISHED BY THE UNIVERSITY



CONTENTS

	PAGE
Physiological conditions affecting raclus internode length	802
Determination of density and of squareheadedness	803
Development of the wheat plant with reference to squareheadeduess	804
The mechanics of squareheadedness	-806
Effects of crossing on squareheadedness	807
Effects of nutrition	809
Summary	812
The genetics of squareheadedness	813
Inheritance of squareheadedness in crosses within the salirum group	814
Relation of the degree of squareheadedness of the <i>guilagre</i> parent in	
<i>Tyllagre</i> x squarehead crosses to the squareheadedness of their progeny	824
False dominance of squareheadedness	826
Relation of width of culm to squareheadedness	827
Inheritance of samarcheadedness in spelt x satismum crosses	\$20
Effect of the spelt factor on same headquess	831
Inheritance of squareheadedness in specific crosses	833
Summary	831
The genetics of density	835
Inheritance of density in crosses between Tribicum combactum and other	000
forms of the satisfy m crosses between <i>Fractum computation</i> and other	830
Influes of the density of the law parent in a law y combactum cross on	000
the density of succeeding generations	Q.13
Polition of density of E. Shuts to that of their preserve	- <u>91</u> 1
Relation of density of logs and log successful of her progeny	011
Constantion of density of dense and lax segregates of interozygous 12 plants	040
General consideration on the frequency distributions of compact x lax	9.16
The acture of density factors	010
Free target producing sympthesidedness as comprising one of the group of	0.14
factors producing squarenearconess as comprising one of the group of	056
Polition of sequence of density in Experimental plants	0.00
Relation of squareheadedness to density in 2-generation plants	- 965 - 965
Relation of length of raches to density in dybrid plants	266
Relation of length of cum to facilis length and length of starils glumon	000
Correlation between average internode length and length of sterne gluides	271
Correlation between average microocenengin and length of kernets,	071
Relation of density of facinis to density of facinia.	071
The factor for spenning acting as a mounter for the density factor	074
The synthetic production of Trucum compactum	870
Summary	001
Literature cited	001

0

.

THE GENETICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND OF DENSITY IN WHEAT, AND THE RELATION OF THESE TO OTHER CHARACTERS

.

.



THE GENETICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND OF DENSITY IN WHEAT, AND THE RELATION OF THESE TO OTHER CHARACTERS¹

SARKIS BOSHNAKIAN²

The mendelian inheritance of each of the more striking characters in wheat, such as beardedness, color, felting, density, and so forth, has been determined qualitatively by various workers. Much remains to be done, however, if the genetics of these characters is to be analyzed from a quantitative point of view, as there are numerous lesser inherited variations within their simple gross segregations.

Practically all of these characters show certain degrees and types of interrelations with other characters. Some of them show complete or partial linkage. Others, when analyzed quantitatively, appear to have been affected by one or another character but not necessarily linked with it, so that if one of these characters appears in an intense or a dilute form the others vary also in the same direction and more or less in the same degree.

Besides the above-mentioned type of interrelation, in which the appearance and the intensity of appearance of a group of characters are due to the presence or the absence of the same factor or factors, there is another type embracing a set of characters that appear as an indirect effect of the presence of another character. In a sense these characters are acquired, but they seem to be inherited simply because the causal character is inherited; and whenever the latter is present it gradually causes the modification of the former characters during the lifetime of the individual.

The subject of the inheritance of types of internode length presented in this paper has been treated from the following three viewpoints: (1) the analyses of minor segregations within gross (3:1, 1:2:1, or the like) segregations; (2) the determination of the interrelations of varied

¹ Paper No. 93, Department of Plant Breeding, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York. Also presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Cornell University, March, 1920, as a major thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of doctor of philosophy.

²In cooperation with the Office of Cereal Investigations, United States Department of Agriculture.

characters; and (3) the determination of characters that were found to be the resultant of other characters.

Since the characters studied were confined to those that were not distinctly contrasting in the usual mendelian sense but represented different gradations on a scale between two extreme quantitative characters, it was not possible to classify them into genetic classes or to express the results always in terms of ratios. The analyses were made according to such biometrical methods as seemed best suited to bring out the directions and tendencies of the variations. Factorial explanations, however, have been given wherever the facts obtained warranted the formulation of such hypotheses.

The material on which observations were made consisted, exclusive of interspecific crosses, of more than sixty F_2 progenies, fourteen of which were carried through the F_3 . To avoid duplications of similar results it is not considered necessary to present here the results of all the crosses, but sufficient data are given to serve as illustrations and to show the general trend of the various modes of inheritance.

For many valuable suggestions and criticisms during the progress of this work the writer fully acknowledges his indebtedness to Professor H. H. Love, of the Department of Plant Breeding at Cornell University, under whose direction the studies were made. Most of the F_2 and F_3 progenies studied were furnished by Dr. C. E. Leighty, of the United States Department of Agriculture. The writer wishes to express his appreciation of Dr. Leighty's generosity in supplying these and also carefully numbered hybrid progenies, which made possible the tracing of each back to the F_1 and parental material, all of which had been saved. Thanks are due also to the Office of Cereal Investigations, United States Department of Agriculture, through whose courtesy the writer was enabled to enjoy the field and laboratory facilities at the Arlington Experimental Grounds during the summers of 1916 and 1917.

PHYSIOLOGICAL CONDITIONS AFFECTING RACHIS INTERNODE LENGTH

Like many quantitative characters, density and squareheadedness are affected to a greater or less extent by a number of environmental conditions which tend to change the normal course of development of the plant, thereby suppressing or accelerating the growth of certain of its

parts. A brief discussion of the effect of environmental factors on the production of these internode characters will serve to show to what extent nongenetic variations may take place. In the first part of this paper the main object is to explain the phenomena of density and square-headedness on a purely mechanical basis.

DETERMINATION OF DENSITY AND OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS

The terms *density* and *squarcheadedness* are used in this paper to designate two different phenomena of rachis internode length. The differences between these two characters are discussed elsewhere (Boshnakian, 1917)³, but they may be briefly redescribed here.

Density is expressed in terms of average rachis internode length, which is found by dividing the length of the rachis by the number of rachis internodes. The average internode length, or density, of a head 90 millimeters long with 20 rachis internodes, is thus $90 \div 20$, or 4.5 millimeters. The average internode length in wheat varies from about 1.3 to about 8 millimeters. In *vulgare* wheat it usually does not extend beyond 5 millimeters. Density is comparative.

The average internode length usually varies in dense wheats from 1.2 to 2.5 millimeters, and in lax forms from 3 to 5+ millimeters. There are intermediate gradations, but, in a general way, by *dense* or *lax* forms are meant, respectively, forms varying in density between the two ranges specified. Although the word *ctub* refers to a capitate type of head, following the present usage of this term it is here applied to dense wheats of the *sativum* group (that is, *Triticum compactum*) whether capitate or not.

Squareheadedness, on the other hand, refers to the ratio between the average internode length of the central third of the rachis and that of the terminal third. The density of the middle and upper thirds of the rachis is equal to the ratio of the number of internodes in these two sections of the rachis. The coefficient of squareheadedness is found by dividing the number of rachis internodes in the terminal third of the rachis by the number of internodes in the middle third. Thus, if the terminal third has 9.5 internodes and the central third has 5.6 internodes, the degree of squareheadedness is equal to $9.5 \div 5.6$, or 1.69. The forms

³ Dates in parenthesis refer to Literature Cited, page 881.

that are usually called *squareheads* have a coefficient of about 1.33 or more; and in this paper, by *vulgare* or *non-squarehead* forms are meant types with coefficients of less than 1.33, and by *squareheads*, forms having coefficients of more than 1.33. This division is entirely arbitrary and is made for convenience.

It is seen, then, that squareheadedness has no reference to density. Squareheads may be dense or lax. This divides the wheat types into the following four classes with respect to their rachis internodes: non-squarehead, lax (*Triticum vulgare*, Plate LXVII, upper, 12); squarehead, lax (*Tr. capitatum*, Plate LXVII, upper, 11); non-squarehead, club (*Tr. compactum*, Plate LXVII, lower, 13); squarehead, club (*Tr. compactum*, Plate LXVII, upper, 9). These varietal names apply to the wheats of the *sativum* group only.

According to these classifications, the semi-dense forms having a squareheadedness of less than 1.33 are named *semi-dense vulgare*—not *squareheads*, a name too often applied for such forms, and perhaps with some justification as such semi-dense forms when well developed may appear square in cross section.

Since the discussions in this paper center solely upon squareheadedness and density, it is necessary for the reader to bear in mind the sense in which these two terms are used.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE WHEAT PLANT WITH REFERENCE TO SQUAREHEADEDNESS

The head of the wheat plant is found in an embryonic stage when the plant starts a new growth after a short or a long period of rest. When the head is about 10 millimeters long it is covered with concentric rings of sheaths, each sheath being attached to the culm at its respective node. The different parts of the plant do not all grow at the same rate.

When the spike is about 15 millimeters long, the enveloping sheaths and blades are fairly well developed, but the culm internodes are only a few millimeters in length, the terminal ones being the shortest. After the sheaths have gone through their chief period of growth, the development of the internodes is accelerated. During this period the head also begins to develop. From this time on, the increase in the height of the

Memoir 53





VARIOUS FORMS OF GROWTH

Upper: 1, Aegilops ovata: 2, F1 (Aegilops x Silver Cluh); 3, Silver Club. 4, White Spelt; 5, Dale Gloria; 6 to 12, F2 types (White Spelt x Dale Gloria, series 13255a)— 6, homozygous lax spelt; 7, heterozygous dense spelt; 8, homozygous dense spelt; 9, homozygous dense sativum (club); 10, heterozygous dense sativum; 11, homozygous lax sativum, squarehead; 12, homozygous lax sativum, vulgare

Lower: Deuse forms of different species: 1, durum; 2 and 3, capitate and dense harley heads (lateral florets of 2 removed); 4, capitate sativum; 5, dense spelt; 6, dense polonicum; 7 and 8, club wheats; 9, turgidum; 10, club; 11 and 12, capitate dicoccums; 13, club pyramidal; 14, capitate spelt; 15, dense polonicum; 16, club

Memoir 53

PLATE LXVIII



VARIOUS FORMS OF GROWTH

Upper: 1 to 5, 6 to 10, Heads of two hybrid plants showing lack of harmony of growth characters. 11 and 12, Heads of spelts subjected to longitudinal pressure; zigzagging of internodes produced instead of squareheadedness Lower: 1 to 4, 5 to 8, Heads of two plants showing variations in density on same plant; plants grown in greeohouse; long spikes headed out about four wecks earlier than dense spikes plant is due primarily to the increasing length of each culm internode. During the first period of the development of the culm, the basal internodes, except a few near the ground, begin to develop, and successive internodes undergo their chief period of growth as the growth of the internode below is beginning to decline. The terminal section of the culm, which carries the spike, during its development has to push the spike up all along the length of the terminal sheath, which envelops the head in such a way that occasionally, and especially among plants of hybrid origin, the culm cannot exert sufficient pressure to unfold the sheath. In such cases the spike fails to head out; or, if it finally does head out, the head appears in an abnormal condition and the tip spikelets very often remain undeveloped (Plate LXVIII, upper, 1 to 10).

The factors that seem to produce a strain on the terminal culm internode during its growth are the following: the rapid growth of the culm; the spread, width, shape, and texture of the spikelets; the stiffness of the enveloping sheath and its resistance to unfolding.

It seems that as the rate of growth of the terminal culm increases, the movement of the spike through the sheath should encounter a greater degree of resistance in an opposite direction.

The spread of the spikelets is probably one of the most important factors. The glumes of the spikelets are pointed upward and outward. This in itself tends to increase resistance. If the contact of the glumes with the sheath increases their spread, the resistance will increase many fold. In species such as the spelt or the emmer, in which the spikes are very narrow and the spikelets are very close to the rachis, the resistance is decidedly decreased because the spikelets themselves assume a wedge shape, the glumes being drawn together tightly; and also because the spikelets, lying flat against the rachis, are not likely to spread out.

The third factor, which is not so important as the other two, is the texture of the sheath and its habit of development. The sheath that normally unfolds at the proper time, or is easily unfolded by the movement of the spike, sometimes fails to open completely or opens under difficulty. Sheaths of this type produce a considerable longitudinal pressure on the culm.

THE MECHANICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS

In order to understand the mechanics of the production of squareheadedness, it is necessary to know the effect that is produced by pressure along the culm axis. The presence of longitudinal pressure is evident from the undulations of the culms often observed in square or dense forms (Plate LXVII, lower, 9 and 16.) The part of the spike that most reacts to the effect of pressure is the terminal part, because it is directly in contact with the sheath. The pressure produces a compressing effect. and this in turn checks the development of the terminal part of the head, especially the development of the rachis internodes, and produces the effect known as squareheadedness.

This character of squareheadedness is mainly evidenced by the gradual shortening of the terminal rachis internodes (Plate LXVII, lower, 4, 11, and 12). But there are also other characters which accompany this shortening of the internodes and which are the direct or indirect results of the same cause. One of the most prominent of these is the so-called clubbing, or capitate form, produced by the spreading of the spikelets away from the rachis in those regions of the head where the internodes are short. Because of the pressure exerted, the normal elongation of the internodes is inhibited but the spikelets in most cases continue to develop. Since the space between the spikelets is not sufficient, they are forced mechanically to spread out to make more room for development. This process is on the principle of the isosceles trapezoid, in which, the base being constant, the distance between the sides increases as the latter take a position toward a right angle with the base. In the plant the rachis internode is represented by the base, and the axes of the spikelets by the sides, of the trapezoid.

In squareheads the spikelets of only the upper part of the spike (except the terminal two or three spikelets) thus diverge. In most *compactum* forms all spikelets diverge as a result of the shortness of all the internodes. This is seen on comparing the divergence of spikelets of dense heads 5 and 9, in Plate LXVII (upper), with that of lax heads 2, 4, and 6. In wheat, as well as in barley, the opposite condition exists also in some cases; that is, the shortening of the internodes does not occur near the upper part, but near the basal region. In such cases the ear, in-

Squareheadedness and Density in Wheat

stead of being capitate in form, assumes a pyramidal or conical form, as shown by heads 13, Plate LXVII (lower), and 8, Plate LXVII (upper).

Another phenomenon of squareheadedness is the drawing of the terminal spikelets toward one side so that when the head is viewed along one of the directions of the plane of symmetry, which separates the spikelets of one side from those of the other, the rachis appears exposed (Plate LXVII, upper, II). Viewed from the opposite side the rachis is covered by glumes and awns which are outdrawn and gathered in that direction. With the receding of the glumes the part of the side where the rachis is exposed appears flat (Plate LXVII, upper, II), and to a person not viewing the head from the opposite side also it gives the impression that the spike is square in cross section. This impression, which has been left on the popular mind, has given to this form the name squarehead.

The character of squareheadedness is not confined to the wheat known by this name but may appear also in the dense forms known as club wheats (*Triticum compactum*). The total shortening of rachis internodes in these forms is primarily due to the presence of a genetic factor which produces also a general shortening of many parts of the plant. But in most forms a certain degree of squareheadedness may be found. This may be inherent—that is, transmissible—or it may have been produced mechanically. When the spikelets spread out as a result of the shortness of the internodes, as described above, the increased width of the head and the projections of the tips of the glumes are likely to offer considerable resistance, thus producing squareheadedness in the manner already explained.

EFFECTS OF CROSSING ON SQUAREHEADEDNESS

Squareheadedness, and shortening of all the rachis internodes, are two different phenomena. As shown in the preceding discussion, squareheadedness is a postnatal character, as it were, being dependent on the combined effect of certain vegetative growth characters. Density of the *compactum* wheats, on the other hand, is predetermined and is due to the presence of one or more genetic factors which cause dwarfing of a number of plant parts, including incidentally the shortening of all rachis internodes.

Squareheadedness is dependent on a certain balance of the rate of

growth of the parts concerned. An unfavorable balance produced through hybridization may result in certain hereditary anomalies. A few such forms are shown in Plate LXVIII (upper). Heads 1 to 5 were produced on a single F_2 plant derived from a cross between a *durum* and a common wheat. In these cases the curling of the awns all along the length of the heads shows that the latter were partly prevented from moving up the sheaths by the tightening of the sheaths. The illustrations show also the rudimentary condition of the terminal 5 to 7 spikelets, which represent the region whose growth was checked altogether by being subjected to pressure.

Heads 6 to 10 in the same plate represent another condition of lack of harmony of growth between different parts of the plant. The spiral form of the awns of head 7 shows that this head was forced to make a corkscrew movement while making its way up the sheath. Heads 8 and 10 show the failure of the sheath to open at the proper time. Heads 6 and 9 represent heads that were finally released.

Heads 11 and 12 represent a single spelt plant whose sheaths were evidently wrapped too tightly around the heads. The pressure which the tight sheath exerted on the head by the growth of the culm produced a zigzagging of the rachis. The internodes of the spelts, being comparatively stiff, are not so likely to remain short as a result of pressure.

These two spelt heads are interesting because they show the relative tendency of the different internodes to be affected by pressure. The basal internodes are thick and are very slightly affected by the induced zigzagging effect. Each successive internode is weaker than the one below, and more and more likely to show the effect of pressure. The conditions to which these heads were subjected are identical with those to which squareheads of *saticum* or other soft-glumed species are subjected, but the effect is somewhat different because of the differences of texture and ear form of the spelt as compared with those of some other forms.

These cases show that there are a number of growth characters to which the production of squareheadedness is due, and that the factors producing these characters seem to segregate and recombine like any other factors. If the combination is such as will produce a pressure of

the head in a certain rate and intensity, various degrees of squareheadedness may result. If the head encounters little or no pressure the internodes may be more or less uniform, and if the growth of parts is unbalanced certain abnormalities of the spike may result.

Since a number of morphological factors are concerned in the production of squareheadedness, logically it would be expected, and experimentally it would be found, that the segregates of a cross between a squarehead and a non-squarehead do not appear in a definite ratio but give a distribution approaching the normal curve of error.

EFFECTS OF NUTRITION

In one of the preliminary experiments to determine the effect of nutrition under field conditions, seeds from a pure variety of a squarehead were grown at varying distances. In one case the seeds were drilled rather closely; in the second case they were planted 7.5 centimeters apart; in the third case they were planted 15 centimeters apart. The frequency distribution of squareheadedness of these three sets of plantings is given in table 1. The set that was drilled in had a mean degree of squareheadedness of 1.325 \pm 0.012; the seeds planted 7.5 centimeters

TABLE 1. VARIATIONS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN PLANTS GROWN AT VARYING DISTANCES (Variety, Giant Squarehead)

	1 00	1 10) 1-20	1 30	1 40	8 1 50	quare 1=60	heade	dness	1 90	2 00	2 10	2 20	Number of plants	Mean
Seeds drilled Seeds planted 7.5 cm. apart Seeds planted 15 cm. apart	1	14 2	$\begin{array}{c}18\\1\\6\end{array}$	25	$\begin{array}{c}19\\8\\2\end{array}$	3	• 10 10 1	2 7	3	$\frac{2}{3}$	2	4	1	94 42 11	$\begin{array}{c} t & 325 \pm & 012 \\ 1 & 678 \pm & 025 \\ 1 & 254 \pm & 027 \end{array}$

apart gave a higher mean, 1.678 ± 0.025 ; and those planted 15 centimeters apart gave a mean of but 1.254 ± 0.027 .

The plants from the drilled rows made a fair growth but were inferior to those of the second set. The plants of the third set were mostly winterkilled, and such as survived had a poor stand with heads of varying length and degrees of development. The poor condition of the lastnamed was due to the wide distances between the plants, which made them unable to protect themselves from winter conditions. In the case of the other sets there was enough foliage developed during the fall for winter protection. Disregarding the third set, it is apparent that the high degree of squareheadedness of the second set was due to the greater feeding allotted to these plants; for there was also a corresponding general development.

Another experiment was made with potted plants growing under greenhouse conditions. It consisted of four sets of nine pots. One set was grown m a cool house, the second under moderate greenhouse conditions, the third in a damp chamber, and the fourth in a rather warm place. Each set consisted of triplicate pots containing, respectively, soils of a very poor sandy mixture, of fair fertility, and of higher fertility.

In the sets grown in cool and moderate temperature conditions, the pots containing poor soil produced heads of a low degree of squareheadedness, while the heads of plants grown in moderately fertile soils showed a higher degree of squareheadedness.⁴

There is no question that in these cases the high degree of squareheadedness was produced by the fertility of the soil. That fertility increases squareheadedness has been noted by Edler (1903), Preul (1908), Ohlmer (1908), and Meyer (1909). Meyer found in addition that nitrogen was the causative factor, as neither calcium, potassium, nor phosphorus, alone or in combination, had any noticeable effect on the production of this character.

It is not so difficult to explain how high fertility increases squareheadedness, in the light of the causes of squareheadedness given in the preceding discussions. If rapid growth of the culm subjects the head to higher pressure, the spike takes the squarehead form. By increasing the nitrogen content of the soil, the rate of growth of the culm is acceler-'ated and the tissues of the parts of the head are softened. The first of these conditions increases the pressure to which the head is subjected, and the second renders the head more sensitive to the effect of pressure. In the absence of sufficient nitrogenous food, the rate of growth is retarded and the parts of the head become fibrous. Due to the first condition sufficient pressure is not developed, and with the hardening of the tissues the spike offers a greater resistance to whatever pressure may be developed.

⁴ The sets grown in the damp chamber and in the warm place did not do well.

SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

The effect of the rate of growth on squareheadedness may be determined also by ascertaining the degree of squareheadedness of the leading culm and of those that develop later. Practically in every case the leader, which is by far the most vigorously growing culm, has a higher degree of squareheadedness than the others. Often the smaller culms of squarehead plants will have *vulgare*-like heads.

In cases in which squareheading is increased by the rapid growth of the culm, the plants having longer spikes are more squareheaded than those with shorter spikes. The relative degree of squareheadedness of short and of long spikes of the same plant is shown in table 2. From four to six well-developed heads were measured from each plant in connection with another experiment. Here the shortest and the longest of these, respectively, are shown. Out of twelve cases taken at random there was but one case in which the short head had a higher degree of squareheadedness. The average of the summation of the differences was 0. 17 \pm 0.021 in favor of the long heads.

TABLE 2.	DIFFERENCES	in Degree	OF SQUAREH	IEADEDNESS	of Long	AND OF	SHORT
		HEADS OF	THE SAME	Plant			

Short	t heads		Long heads	
Length (centimeters)	Squareheadedness	Length (centimeters)	Squareheadedness	Difference in squareheadedness
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 23 \\ 1 & 41 \\ 1 & 50 \\ 1 & 24 \\ 1 & 21 \\ 1 & 24 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 31 \\ 1 & 51 \\ 1 & 33 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 39 \\ 1 & 30 \\ 1 & 3$	$\begin{array}{c} 13 & 5 \\ 13 & 2 \\ 13 & 8 \\ 12 & 0 \\ 14 & 0 \\ 13 & 6 \\ 10 & 5 \\ 10 & 0 \\ 10 & 1 \\ 11 & 2 \\ 12 & 5 \\ 10 & 2 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 47 \\ 1 & 51 \\ 1 & 50 \\ 1 & 51 \\ 1 & 37 \\ 1 & 48 \\ 1 & 60 \\ 1 & 65 \\ 1 & 65 \\ 1 & 65 \\ 1 & 57 \\ 1 & 58 \\ 1 & 58 \\ 1 & 5$	$\begin{array}{c} +0 & 24 \\ +0 & 10 \\ 0 & 000 \\ +0 & 27 \\ +0 & 16 \\ +0 & 24 \\ +0 & 21 \\ +0 & 21 \\ +0 & 34 \\ +0 & 14 \\ +0 & 24 \\ +0 & 12 \\ -0 & 12 \end{array}$
	A 80.0	Mean and average error		
9 4± 35	$1 34 \pm 025$	12 0± 40	1.50 ± 0.026	$\pm 0.17 \pm 021$

When vigor is induced by soil fertility, the plants with longer heads will be more squareheaded than the others; and when vigor is induced by crossing certain *vulgare* forms, the long heads of each plant will be found to be more of a squareheaded type. The increase of squareheadedness of the F_1 plants, as shown later, will serve as examples.

If, on the other hand, squareheadedness is caused, not so much by the

vigorous development of the culm, but by the failure of the sheath to unfold at the proper time, then the plants that are more squareheaded will be found to have shorter heads that the non-squarehead forms. Figures illustrating this type of squareheadedness are given in connection with the discussion of that subject.

Before concluding the discussion of the effects of nutrition, it may be well to make a few remarks regarding its effect on the density of the compactum form. As already mentioned, the density of this form is not the result of pressure. But by increasing the fertility of the soil it is possible to change markedly the degree of density. Four heads from each of two *combactum* plants are shown in Plate LXVIII (lower). These two plants were grown in 4-inch pots in a greenhouse. The soil was highly fertilized. The heads first developed (2, 4, and 5) were almost like *vulgare*, but as the season advanced, and more spikes began to head out, the heads became more and more dense. There was an interval of about four weeks between the time of heading-out of the first and of the last head. When the last spike headed out, the first one was almost ripe-that is to say, the nutrients in the plant or those in the soil were already used up; hence the spikes heading out later obtained very little food. From the difference in thickness of the culms of dense and lax heads an idea may be formed of the relative amount of nourishment obtained by the different heads.

This experiment was conducted under abnormal environmental conditions, and it is not likely that variations as great as these will be found on plants growing under field conditions. But it points out the fact that increased fertility in the soil tends to increase the length of the rachis internodes.

SUMMARY

The wheat plaut during its development undergoes two more or less distinct periods of growth. In the first period the sheaths and the blades develop. In the second period the rate of growth of the sheaths diminishes and the culms begin to develop, and during this period the spike carried at the end of the terminal culm internode is pushed up through the enveloping sheath.

Squareheadedness is the combination of a number of characters which

are produced by the shortening of the terminal rachis internodes. It is expressed by the coefficient found by dividing the number of internodes in the terminal third of the rachis by the number of internodes in the central third.

Density is the shortening of all the rachis internodes. It is determined by dividing the length of the rachis in millimeters by the number of internodes.

There are numerous gradations of squareheadedness and of density. Squareheadedness is the result of pressure developed by differential growth of culm and sheath.

Rapid growth of the culm, failure of the sheath to unfold, and ears with soft-spreading glumes, tend to increase squareheadedness.

Any factor, genetic or environmental, which affects principally the development of the above-named characters, will affect the degree of squareheadedness.

Fertility of the soil or access of the root system to sufficient available nitrogenous matter increases squareheadedness.

Density is purely an inherited character, but favorable growth conditions may somewhat increase average internode length. Under abnormally favorable or unfavorable conditions, the increase or the decrease of density even on the same plant may be considerable.

THE GENETICS OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS

Investigations on the genetics of squareheadedness have given many confusing results, chiefly because no definite standards have been used for measuring this character. There are many instances in which this word has been used for designating a moderate degree of density.

One of the earliest studies of the subject was made by Rimpau (1891), who crossed lax *vulgare* types with lax and moderately dense squareheads. The F_1 hybrids were intermediate and the types of the F_2 populations varied within respective parental ranges.

Von Rümker (1909) obtained from squarehead x vulgare crosses, F_2 populations, some of which yielded more and others fewer squareheads. The squareheads varied also in degree.

Nilsson-Ehle (1911) found the *vulgare* type to be dominant over the

squarehead form. The ratio of *vulgare* to squarehead was between 3:1 and 15:1.

Further work has been done, but because of the different meanings given to the word *squarehead* it is not possible to compare the results with those that are here presented.

INHERITANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN CROSSES WITHIN THE SATIVUM GROUP

Squareheadedness is a quantitative character. Crosses in which it is involved do not show a clear-cut segregation into mendelian classes and ratios. Physiological experiments have shown that the character is the result of the interaction of a number of growth factors, certain combinations of which cause the compacting of the terminal part of the spike. The character is very variable, for any environmental condition that affects these growth factors in one way or the other indirectly increases or decreases the degree of compactness of the terminal part of the rachis.

Before considering the inheritance of the character in squarehead x non-squarehead crosses, it may be well to illustrate the mode of inheri-

	Genera						Deg	ree	of sc	lare	hea	dedr	less						М	ean	Number of
	ation	10	00	32	8	32	10	15	81	23	30	32	40	45	20	120	60	65			plants
	ł	c	0	0	_	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	~	-	-	_	-			
Parent plants				1		6								_					1	1.4	28
Jones Longberry					Ĩ	2.9	6	3	2	1	.1								1	12 08	15
Dawson Golden Chaff.		2	î	6	6	2				-				4 - 4					Ô	98	17
13158a Mealy x Jones Longberry	F1										3	1	1	1					1	35	6
13158a Mealy x Jones Longberry	F2			2	7	13	14	9	5	6	4	1							1	12	61
x Mealy.	\mathbf{F}_1									Ī		•			2	1	2		1	50	6
x Mealy.	F2	1		3	3	-8	9	5	6	4	9	2	3	1				1	1	17	55
x Mealy 13179a Jones Longberry	F1											1		2		• •	• •		1	42	3
x Mealy.	F_2	1	4	3	13	17	15	17	10	4	4	2	• •						1	11	90
Chaff x Pride of Genesee	F_1				1	1	3	2											1	09	7
Chaff x Pride of Genesee	F_2		1	5	25	14	9	6	6	2	1	1							1	06	70

TABLE 3. DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN VULGARE X VULGARE CROSSES

tance of squareheadedness when either the squareheads or the *vulgare* type (non-squareheads) are crossed among themselves.

The degree of squareheadedness in F_1 and F_2 generations of *culgare* x *vulgare* crosses is shown in table 3. The first three crosses here (series 13158a, 13178a, and 13179a) are between Mealy and Jones Longberry, both of which have practically the same degree of squareheadedness, 1.14 and 1.12, respectively. The mean degree of squareheadedness of the F_2 generation fluctuated around the means of their parental forms, being, respectively, 1.12, 1.17, and 1.11.

The fourth cross, 13177a, was made between plants of lower coefficient; that of Pride of Genesee was 1.08 and that of Dawson Golden Chaff was 0.98. The F_2 generation from this cross were all non-square-heads and had a mean squareheadedness of 1.06, these also somewhat approaching the average of their parents.

The degree of squareheadedness in crosses between squareheads is shown in table 4. The F_2 of the first cross, 13201a, has a range with-

	Genera							De	gre	e of	l sq	uai	reh	eac	ledi	nes	5						11	ean	Number
	ation	10	15	.20	25	30	35	40	45	. 50	55	60	65	.70	.75	80	85	06.1	95	00	2 05	10		C C C L L	plants
		=	-	-	=	=	Ξ	-	_	_	-	-	-	=	1=	=	1-	-	=	-	-	-			
Parent plants															1	1							4	- 1	
New Soules				·		•	0		1	12	3	3	· 1	3	2	1 2		2	1	1.2	10	1	1	41	10
Lones Mammoth Amber		1				3	- 2	0	2	i à	6 1	0	1	1	4		1 1	1.4	1	0	-	1		40	15
Crosses		1.1				~		-	-	-		-	1	l ^							1.1		1		
13201a New Soules x Giant																									
Squarehead	F1	1.												1.	1		1	2	1				I	87	5
13201a New Soules x Giant					Ι.						1.0		1.									i -		40	20
Squarehead	12	11		12	4	4	11	8	12	1	10	2	2	10	1	12				1.1			1	.49	1.4
r Giant Sousrehead	E	1		1				1		1	1	1 1		1		1		1				ł.	1	55	3
13203a Jones Mammoth Amber	<u> </u>	1	1	1		1		1.	1	1	1.	1		1	1	1		1				1	1		
x Giant Squarehead	F_2	1.	1	1	2	1	7	4	7	6	1 4	5	7	1 2	1 2	2	1		1	ļ.	1		1	53	52
													_					_	_	-	_				

TABLE 4. DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN SQUAREHEAD X SQUAREHEAD CROSSES

in the squarehead classes with a mean of 1.46. Compared with the averages of the parental forms—New Soules, 1.71, and Giant Squarehead, 1.77—the mean of the F_2 is lower. The second cross, 13203a, has an F_2 mean squareheadedness within the means of the parents.

There are two points of interest in connection with these two sets of crosses: first, as a rule, when *culgare* forms are crossed among themselves or squareheads are crossed among themselves, the F_2 generation

TABLE 5. Degree of Squareheadedness in Squarehead x Vulgare Crosses

		-	-					-										_	-			-	_	-				-	-		1
	Conve										D	egr	ee	of s	squ	are	hea	der	ine	88											Number
	ation	22	9	22	0	2	9	2	2	5	02	5	2	10	0	5	00	13	12	:2	0	12	9	\$2	2	35	2	5	2	Mean	of
		0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ē	-	-	-	2	2	2		plants
Parent plants Giant Squarehead New Soules Extra Early Windsor													1	2	6	1	24	3	$\frac{1}{3}$	1	532	421	42	1 1 1	42	1	3	2	1	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & 77 \\ 1 & 71 \\ 1 & 57 \end{array} $	33 15 24
Amber Minnesota 169 Mealy Fultz					1	1 1 3	221	6 6 3	823	872	8 4	5 4	2 1 1	$^{2}_{1}$	2	2	2	4	2		1									$ \begin{array}{r} 1 & 49 \\ 1 & 15 \\ 1 & 14 \\ 1 & 04 \end{array} $	15 41 28 13
Fultzo-Medit. Pride of Genesee Jones Longberry Rural New Yorker					1	3	4 1 1 1	52216	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 2 \end{array} $	5632	$\frac{2}{1}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ 1	1 1	1																	$ \begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 12 \\ 1 & 08 \\ 1 & 12 \\ 1 & 08 \end{array} $	13 23 15 12
13131a Giant Square- head x Minn. 169 Ditto 13150: Minp. 160	${f F_1}{f F_2}$						11	11	11	17	21	18	17	1 4	8	5	3	1	1	4		1	1		1					$\begin{smallmatrix}1&35\\1&24\end{smallmatrix}$	1 135
x Giant Squarehead Ditto 131555 Mann. 169	${f F_1}{F_2}$						3	3	3	5	7	18	9	2 6	3	1 5	1 4	2	1	2	3					1				$\begin{smallmatrix}1&41\\1&31\end{smallmatrix}$	4 75
x Giant Squarehead Ditto 13134a Giant Square-	$F_1 \\ F_2$							4	6	6	9	1 4	8	1 8	9	5	222	5	4	1	1	1	1							$\begin{array}{c}1&40\\1&33\end{array}$	4 74
head x Mealy Ditto 13135a Giant Square-	F_1 F_2				1	2	6	4	11	9	7	11	9	8	7	2	2	3	1 6	1	4	3								$\begin{array}{c}1 & 62\\1 & 29\end{array}$	$\frac{2}{95}$
head x Mealy Ditto 13137a Giant Square-	F1 F2			1	2	1	2	6	1	7	11	11	11	12	9	11	12	8	1	101	1		1	2	1	1				1 62	5 121
Ditto 13138a Fultz x Giant Squarehead	F_2 F_1	1			4	8	14	13	9	8	11	б	5 1	7	4	4	3	6	2	2	1		2	1						1 21	111 5
Ditto 13140a Giant Square- head x Fultzo-	F2		1		1	2	8	13	11	4	5	7	7	8	3	6	1	1	1	55	1	4								1 22	89
Mediterranean Ditto 13141a Giant Sq.	F_1 F_2						1	2	3	3	6	10	8	14	12	10	9	7	7	4	1	$\frac{1}{2}$	1 1				1			$\begin{smallmatrix}1&77\\1&40\end{smallmatrix}$	$\frac{2}{101}$
x Pride of Genesee Ditto. 13200a Pride of Gen-	F_1 F_2						4	8	10	10	6	13	5	1	7	12	2	1	1			1								$\begin{array}{c}1 & 55\\1 & 22\end{array}$	3 71
head Ditto 13202a Jones Long-	$F_1 \\ F_2$	No	otr	099 	rde 1	d	3	7	5	7	8	10	7	6	3	6	4		3		1	1	2		1					1 28	76
berry x Giant Sq. Ditto 13194a Pride of Gen-	F1 F2					1	4	4	6	2	9	8	6	7	12	4	2	2	4	2 1	$\frac{2}{1}$		1							$\begin{array}{c} 1.68\\ 1.30\end{array}$	$\frac{4}{74}$
esee x New Soules. Ditto 13144a New Soules	F_1 F_2						4	3	6	9	10	11	4	7	3	3 2	1	1 4	1	1										$\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 52 \\ 1 & 24 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6 \\ 65 \end{array}$
x Pride of Genesee. Ditto 13176a New Soules x Rural New Yorker	F ₁ F ₂					1	6	10	4	9	5	13	3	4	3	10	2	1	2	1	1	1		1						1 75 1 25	1 76
Ditto 13196a Pride of Gen- esee x Extra Early	F_2			1			4	4	13	5	13	9	11	12.74	7	3	5	1	2											$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & 40 \\ 1 & 25 \end{array} $	3 85
Windsor Ditto 13193a Jones Mam- moth Amber x	F_1 F_2						3	2	6	8	14	11	12	10	$\frac{2}{6}$		1	1 1												$\begin{smallmatrix}1&46\\1&24\end{smallmatrix}$	4 73
Mealy Ditto 13143a Extra Early Windsor x Pride of	$\mathop{F_{2}}\limits^{F_{1}}$					3	4	13	14	14	9	7	8	7	13	1 4	3	2	2	1		1								$\begin{array}{ccc}1&42\\1&22\end{array}$	$2 \\ 95$
Genesee Ditto	$F_1 \\ F_2$	N	ot	ecu	orde	ed	1	4	3	10	7	12	8	4	5	5	2		1	1	1									1 27	64

consists of practically only *vulgare* or only squareheads, respectively; secondly, the mean of the F_2 generation approaches the average of the parental forms.

Regarding the inheritance of squareheadedness among squarehead x vulgare crosses, an idea can be obtained by comparing the F_2 -generation distributions with the parental distribution (table 5). Special attention might be called to the comparatively high degree of squareheadedness of the F_1 generations; in most of the cases the F_1 plants are almost as squareheaded as the squarehead parents. On a theoretical basis the means of the F_1 would be expected to coincide with those of the F_2 . The departure here is too wide. This increase in squareheadedness of the F_2 is attributed both to heterosis and to greater care taken in growing and spacing the plants of this generation.

The F_2 -generation distribution, even when the number of individuals of which they are composed is considered, shows certain characteristics with respect to range of distribution and mean. If the F_2 distributions of squarehead and non-squarehead crosses are compared with those of the crosses in which the parents were either both squareheads or both *vulgare*, it is seen that so far as the mode of inheritance is concerned there is no essential difference between them. The means of the F_2 generation plants shift toward or away from the more squarehead classes, but show a constant tendency to regress toward the means of the parental forms; and the range of the F_2 also spreads or contracts, depending on the extent to which the parents vary in degree of squareheadedness.

Although several of these crosses were carried through the F_3 generation because of the similarities of the results, only two series are considered here to illustrate the behavior of the F_2 plants in F_3 . The results of Giant Squarehead x Fultzo-Mediterranean (series 13140a) are shown in table 6, and those of Giant Squarehead x Mealy (series 13135a) are shown in table 7.

ULT20-	Number of plants	33 101 101	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	911
	Mean	1 77 1 12 1 12 1 77	44356 1222 1222 1222 1222 1222 1222 1222 12	
				Lants
HF.A	SL	5 1 1 1 1		F3 D
REI	01.3	5 - : :		Jo.
AU.	<u>90 - 0</u>			uber
X	00.3	5 00 1		I BUI
1 L	<u>60.</u>	<u>i - : : :</u> :		[ota
VI.V	06	I 🕆		
<u> </u>	\$8.	1 - : : :		
- 103	08			
2	8 52.	1 7 : - 0		
S.	eque	C 10 1 17		
SRII	69	I +		
2	191 09.	1		
m L T	15 <u>cc</u>	[^m : .*~		
EAL	20 6	[].::*		
N N N	145 Degi		0 10101 14 1401 400 1 1 1-014 H-H 10101 10 M00	
ERR	04.	1 : : . : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :		
LIG	35.1	C7 : 1		
WE.	08.1	L : :	0.4000141-01 - 0 - 0 - 0 4 - 0 4 0 - 0 400 0 10 - 4	
64 C	52.1	.: <u></u>		
0 	07	1 .	4400000000 (4 (0=000-0-444)00	
E E E	31.1	1 4 ~~	644330240-05-40 (0044030600)	
EDI	01.1	r. = .ee	43	
SAD	02	1 10 101		
EHI	00.1	i 🗖		
AR	\$6°0)'		
1 2 2 1	06 0) :		
D. BUHAVIOR OF	0	atehead diterranean	Squareheadedness 10.62 10.62 11.53 11.53 11.53 11.53 11.55 1	
1.ABLE		1 Giant Sque 1 Fultzo-Med	Pediaree Pediaree 24-1 24-1 24-5 24-5 24-6 24-6 24-6 24-6 24-10 24-11 24-124-12 24-1	P

SQUAREHEADEDNESS A	AND DENSITY IN WHEAT	
--------------------	----------------------	--

Number	or plants	28 28 121 5 7					00	39	22	17		N N	22	00	22	2.5	00	31		÷	91	10	\$	2	38	0.0	2	26		50	1	64	35	0.01	4	21	17	10	7	30	35	0.0	31	26	00	1	50	0.0	0.7	39	16	10	51	96	0.0	36	60	25	200	22	1.022
;	WEAN	1 77 1 14 1 62 1 36		-			- 01	101	1 05	1 9.9	11	1 35	1 15		1 17	1 1.6	01 1	1.36		×	1 95	3	1 10	£1 1	1 30	00.	1.20	1 98		1 26	1	+ς 1	1 16	20	3	1 20	0.0		1.31	1	1.91		55. I	1 36 -	20	07.1	1.15	1 24	F2 1	1 18	101	1.24	1 25 1	1 2.8	1 00 1	22	1 29	62 1	1 1 1	1 10 1	
	5 10				-	-						;	_	1				_		:		:		:				-				-	_		:		_	:	:	-		:	1			:			1			1			:	-				-	
	5 02	P1 .		~~~		-	-	:		_	_	1	_		-			-				:	-	:	_			-	:			1	-		1		-	:		-	_	1				1			1	_		1	_		:				:	-	ALLEN
	5 00	en	-	_	-	-	-	:			:	1		:			;	-		-		1	-	*	-			-				1	-		;	;	_	•	:		_	;	;	-		;	-			-			_		-	-	-			-	a nl
	96.1		-	_	-		-	:	-	-	_		-	:				-			-		_				_	_		_			_		:	_					-	:	1			:			:			:			:		-			-	ofF
	06.1	*	-	_	-	-	-	:	:	_	:				-	-				-	-	:	-	× .			:	-	:			1			:		-	<i>.</i>		:	-	:	:		:	1		-	1	-		:			1		-		-	-	1 Her
	28 I	- : .01		_	-			:	:	_	:	:			;					:	-	:		1			;	_	1			:	_		:						~~~	;	:			1			:	_		1			•						TALL
	108 I	· · · · ·	-		-		-	1		_				-			-		,	-			_			•		_	1			:			:		-	:	:	;	-	:	:			1			1			1			:		-		:		1 stor
	92 I	4		_	-	-	-		:	-		:			:			-		-	-	:			-			-	:			-			:		-	:	:	-	-	1	1	-		;			1	_		;	_		;	-	-			-	-
	02 I	10 1	-		-	-	-	-	:			;					1				_	;	_		-		1	-	. '	-			-		1		_	. *	-	;	-		~	-	(1			:			-		-	-	-	-	-	1		
	29 I	- 23 63	-		-	_	-	;		_	_		1						;	•	-	:		1			:		:			:			:		_	: *	-	:		:	-	-		;			-			1	1		-	-			4	-	
	09 I		-	_	-	-		:	:		. 0	17			:	:	:	1					_			;	4	-	•	-	¢	4	1		:	1	-	4	;	21		•	-	-	•	1			;			,	-	-	7	:	-	6	1	-	
	1 92	20	-		-	_	-	1	;		:	÷			1			÷1	1		-	-	-	-			:		-		C	.э		:	1	-	-	4 1	-	c7	_		-	-		1	1		1						- 1	24		-	4		
	1.50	12	-	_				:	:	-		à	-		•		: :	272	-	-	-	-		:			:	-	4		B.C	2		0	1	_	-	. 4	3	m-ju	-	• 0	1	c7	-	-1		-	+			7	_	¢	4		¢1	-	•	•	
	34° I		-		-	-	-	:	-		. 0	1			-			+	ſ	-	-	-	_		~	,	•		• •	-	42	0		-	-				-	4	-	-	-			-			-		0	0	-		: (~	9	-	:	•	
3 7)	01 I	, B	-		-	_	-	:	;	_	. *	-		. 4	-1	1		~	>		-	-+	-	+	~	1 2	Ċ,	-	1		-	-			:	:	2	0 0	0	9	4	M -1	†	~	0.0	0	-	0	ò			71	-	0	0	21	9	-		-	
dnes	1 32	01- 01	-	-	-	-	-	:	1	40	0 0	2	1		1	¢	4	õ) ,	-	0	a	_	•	9	C	ò	40	5 1	-	10	0		-	7	¢1	-	4 0	1	20	-	4 *	je.	2	. 0	1	~	-	-		C	51	21	11	-	5	101	-	• *	ñ	
ade	1 30	=	-		-	-	*	-	-	0	10	21	-	•		ç	2	C1	1.4	-	~	ó			õ		+	15	5,	-	0	0	773	0	1		0	10	1	21	6	10	0	01		0	67	-	Ŧ	9	-	-	2	10	9.1	ŝ	30	6	1		
Irela	1 52	. + 1	-	_	-		-	-1	-	0	3 6	1	10	, -	Ŧ	6.2	2	4	• 1	Ģ			-	•	-0	•	*	£	2 (20	~	+	G	0	0.	÷		1:	5	-	Ъ.С.	5 0	÷	10	-	, ,	~	c	4	1	. ~	Ť	07	. 4.5	2	0	2	6	1 24	10	
sque	1 50	11. 4	-		-			-	;	-	10	1	~	2	:	ŝ	4	-		-	t	-	CY.	2	22	¢	4	4		+	-	+	5	-	0		-	• •	0	-	1	. 0	0	01	19	p I	[~	÷	1	1-	-	-	0	0	9.0	2	2	-	. 9	â	
e of	1 12	2 .	-	_	-	-	£	-	C.)	er;		-	10	1	Ð	0	0	-	• :	2	2	0	~	2	4	C	9	-	+ 1	24	82	0	x	-	t	LÇ	-	• •	-		1-	- 0	N	1		0	9	-	-	x		0	Ť			-	8	-	• •	5	
egře	01 I	23 H	-	-	-		k	G.	÷	6	1 -	-	10	> :	10	4	5			+	-	-	-	-	c*	-	-		4.1	-		*	9		- 1	-0		4	;		-	4		-	0	0	~		•	20	V	*	67	-	-	51	3	6	1 12	ō	
Ē	90 T	. ¹⁰ . 10	-		-	-	01	7	9		•		-	•	Ŧ	¢,	2 :	01	1 8	,	-	-	-	+	-		-		4		-	-	ŝ	G	1	***	-	4			-	-	:				ŝ		-	10	-	-	-	,	•	1		-		9	
	00 I	01 01			-		0	2	ŝ	-	4	_	-		-	2		-	-	-				:							5	-			-						-	4					+			Ċ1	-	-			-		¢1	-		-	
	96-0		-		-	-	6	2	3							-	4					•		•			-	-	4				-			-			;		-	,				; '	-			-	C	1	-	1		1	-	1	•	•	
	06 0		-			-	-						-	1						-	-								. '	-											-	4	÷			. 1	-	-	-			4				•					
	98-0			Report P				:				1					1					•		-					,	-		4							:	:	_		:			-			÷	;					4						
				_	Squareheadedness	in R.	1 00	22	1 23	1 26	100	07 I	1 28	101	1 31	1 2.9	100		1 10	1 95 F	1 34	1 43	1 40	OF W	143	1 4 4	1.1.1	1 45		1.40	1 12	1 11	1 47	1 47		1 45	1 44		1 90	001	1 50		101	1 52	20	# 0 # 0	1 24	122	1 00	1.55	1 20	ne t	1 57	1 50	1 00	1 04	1 72	1 74	1 88	1 00 1	
		Pi Giant Squarelea Pi Mealy P2 P2	Pa families		Pedigree	>	10.6	D-11	01-61	20-2	10.0	7-01	1:1-1:1	5 976-	2.0~4	19-17		21-61	10.9	- 10 T	20-10		19-0	2 4 4 2 4 4	1[-]]	10.7	1 1 - 1		10.4	0-07	10.3		19-8	20.8		19-14	20-3	10.4		19~13	20-9	10.15	10 T - 10 T	07-61	1 ⁻ 0c.	1-07	21-02	20.5	-0-0	18-3	20.13	01.07	19-19	241.7	1-0-1	19-10	1-61	20-11	19-10	AT-ET	

TABLE 7. BEHAVIOR OF SQUAREHIFADEDNESS OF F2 PLANTS IN F3. SERIES 13135a, GIANT SQUAREHEAD X MEALY

That a segregation of forms is taking place is quite evident. The F_3 distributions shown in table 6 are arranged in the order in which they were planted, so that the differences may not be ascribed to environmental conditions. Cultures 24-8, 25-3, and 25-4 show notable differences in distribution and mean from the cultures growing next to them. Similarly, in table 7, where the F_3 distributions are arranged according to the degree of squareheadedness of the F_2 plauts, the difference in squareheadedness of cultures 19-17, 19-18, and 19-19, and many others, is to be noted. The progeny of plant 19-17, representing a line in which none of the plants were squareheads, grew immediately next to a row, 19-18, which produced only squareheads, thirty in all.

In order to show that the variations noted in the F_3 are not chance variations but are hereditary, the curves shown in figure 78 were plotted,



FIG. 78. RELATION OF DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEPNESS BETWEEN F2 PARENT PLANTS AND THEIR PROGENY

Squareheadedness and Density in Wheat

based on the F_3 data of series 13140a (table 6). Two sets of curves are shown in this figure. The dotted curve represents the degree of squareheadedness of the F_2 plants, and the solid curve represents the means of the F_3 in the order of squareheadedness of the F_2 plants.

The inclination of the straight line fitted to the curve of the F₂ progeny shows that in a general way the degree of squareheadedness of the progeny is determined by the degree of squareheadedness of the F. parent plants. A few words of explanation may be given to account for the constant rise and fall of this curve. Since the F₃ figures represent, respectively, the means of approximately thirty individuals, there is no question that they are dependable, and the differences between the means of the F₃ plants show their comparative genotypic differences. Since the mean of the F₃ in material having a mode of inheritance such as this character fluctuates more or less around the degree of squareheadedness of the F₂ form planted, it may be assumed that, had the F₂ plants been grown in the same year as and under conditions similar to those under which the F₃ were grown, the average degree of squareheadedness of the developed heads of the F_o planted would have approached more nearly the mean of their progeny. Because of the large number of plants that had to be measured, it was not found practicable to measure several heads from each F₂ plant. A developed head was taken at random from each of the envelopes containing the heads of each plant, and was measured. Since different heads in a single plant vary greatly in squareheadedness, the developed head selected at random does not necessarily show the true phenotype. Therefore, the zigzag nature of the F₃ curve should not be ascribed to inconsistent variations, but to inability to ascertain the true degree of squareheadedness of the F_2 by a single measurement, or even more, of the heads of a single plant.

The difference between the slope of the straight line of the F_2 curve and that of the F_3 is due to two conditions. In the first place, while the F_2 curve represents individual plants of a single frequency distribution, the F_3 curve represents the means of such distributions. In the second place, as the mean represents the average of all plants exhibiting variations, slight or extreme in either direction, the means of the F_3 cannot vary as much as the individuals of the F_3 in which the extremes

of the frequency distribution are also included. The slope of the fitted straight line of the F_3 means could therefore not be expected to be as steep as that of the F_2 -generation plants.

Squareheadedness is not peculiar to the lax form commonly known as *squarehead*. It may be present or absent in other forms also. The *compactum* forms usually are squareheaded but there are also many which are not. In the examples that follow it is shown that squareheadedness introduced by a club has the same effect on the forms of the succeeding generations as does squareheadedness introduced by the ordinary lax squarehead.

The dense squarehead of the compacto-capitatum form used in this study was that known as *Dale Gioria* (Plate LXVII, upper, 5). This form is very dense and has an average internode length varying usually from 1.2 to 1.7 millimeters. Its degree of squareheadedness ranges from low to high, as shown in table 8. With very dense wheats such as Dale

TABLE 8. INHERITANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN A SQUAREHEAD X COMPACTUM CROSS (Series 13173a, Dale Gloria x New Soules)

	0 95	1 00	1 05	1 10	1 15	1 20	1 25 U	egre	1 35 e of	1 40	1 45 rep	eade	dne: 28 -	1 60 %	1 65	1 70	1 75	1 80	1 85	1.90	Mean	Number of plants
Dale Gloria New Soules 13173a F1 13173a F2	1	1	1	2	1		4	1	5	2	. 4	2 2 1 3	· · ·	313	1	1 3 1	. 21 21 33	2	1	2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 17\\15\\4\\41\end{array}$

Gloria, there is a certain limit beyond which the internodes do not shorten further. This is particularly true when the terminal spikelets are fertile, for development 'of a spikelet and development of adjacent parts glumes, nodes, internodes—seem to go hand in hand. A slight increase in the length of the terminal internodes of heads having an internode length in this region as short as 0.8 to 1.2 millimeters, greatly lowers the degree of squareheadedness. This accounts for the presence of forms of a low degree of squareheadedness among Dale Gloria plants.

In a cross between Dale Gloria and New Soules (series 13173a, table 8), in which both parents were squareheaded, the F_2 plants were found to be practically all in the squarehead classes. There were a few in the non-squarehead classes but these were all dense forms like Dale Gloria.

In a cross such as this, there is also an independent segregation of density in the F_2 generation. Half of these F_2 plants were carried through F_3 . The F_3 forms were practically all squareheaded. In some cases there were a few non-squareheads but these were in a very low proportion and probably were genotypically squareheads. As far as squareheadedness is concerned, the Dale Gloria x New Soules cross behaved like any squarehead x squarehead cross, such as those shown in table 4 (page 815).

When Dale Gloria is crossed with *vulgare* forms (table 9), the distri-TABLE 9. INHERITANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN VULGARE X COMPACTUM

Crosses

								Deg	ree (of sq	uare	head	iedn	less								Mean	Number of
	8	85	(16	95	00	05	10	15	20	25	30	35	07	÷	50	55	69	65	70	75	80		plants
	¢	Ð	0	Ξ	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-		
Parent plants						_																	
Dale Gloria			[1	1	- 1	2	1		4	1		2		2			1	- 1			1 28	17
Turkey.	2	3	2	- 2	1	- 3																0.92	13
Turkish Amber	1			- 3	6	10	6	- 4	-4													1 04	34
Mealy				1	2	- 6	2	-7	4	-4	1	1	1.1									1 14	28
F1 plants																							
13214a													1				1]			
1337a												1											
13172a					No	it rei	cord	ed															1
F2 plants							1																
13214a	1		ā	- 4	11	-10	2	5	- 9	3	6	- 3	1	3	2							1 12	65
1337a			2	1	5	- 6	7	- 5	3	- 9	- 3	6	-4	3	4	- 2	2		1		- 1	1.25	64
13172a		1	2		- 2	6	3	3	10	S	6	ā	- 8)	5	4	6	4	1		2	_	1 31	76

(13214a, Turkey x Dale Gloria; 1337a, Turkish Amber x Dale Gloria; 13172a, Mealy x Dale Gloria)

butions of both the F_1 and F_2 generations show a marked resemblance to those produced by squarehead x *vulgare* crosses as shown in table 5 (page 816). The curves of the F_2 in both instances range from the *vulgare* to the squarehead classes. In this case also Dale Gloria behaved as a squarehead; and it is in reality a squarehead, but in addition it happens to carry a density factor.

Two of the crosses in table 9 were carried through F_3 . The results were similar to those already observed in tables 6 and 7 (pages 818 and 819). Using class 1.30 as an arbitrary line dividing non-squareheads from squareheads, different F_3 progenies produced non-squareheads and squareheads in different proportions and degrees. There were progenies which consisted of nothing but squareheads, and others which consisted only of non-squareheads.

The question of the inheritance of squareheadedness, and especially that of the relationship of squareheadedness to certain other characters, is considered further in the discussion of inheritance of density. The general facts observed thus far regarding the inheritance of squareheadedness among forms of the *saticum* group may be summarized as follows:

Squareheadedness is not a unit character, but is a resultant of a combination of growth characters which produce shortening of the terminal internodes. The F_2 and subsequent generations show segregation of plants or lines of squareheadedness distinctly varying in degree, but no definite ratios are observed among these. The average degree of squareheadedness of the F_1 -generation plants is usually much higher than the mean of the F_2 ; in some instances in this study it approached that of the squarehead parent. Apparent vigor due to heterosis, and the greater care usually given to F_1 plants, are considered to account for their variation.

Squareheads crossed among themselves or *saticums* crossed among themselves produce, generally speaking, only squareheads or *saticums*, as the case may be, of ranges and means approaching those of the parental forms. The crosses between squareheads and *saticums* show a wide range of variation, but the range and the mean of the F_2 are still determined by those of the parental forms.

Some of the clubs are squareheaded, and these behave as squareheads when crossed with other forms.

RELATION OF THE DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS OF THE VULGARE PARENT IN VULGARE X SQUAREHEAD CROSSES, TO THE SQUARE-HEADEDNESS OF THEIR PROGENY

The question as to the extent to which the parent plants influence the squareheadedness of their offspring may be determined by examining crosses in which one of the parents is the same in all crosses while for the other parent different forms are used. In table 5 (page 816) a number of series are shown in which different varieties of *vulgare* are crossed with Giant Squarehead. The F_1 and F_2 generations of these crosses are shown graphically in figure 79, in which the crosses are arranged according to the degree of squareheadedness of the *vulgare* parent.



FIG. 79. DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS OF PARENTS AND PROGENY WHEN DIFFERENT VULGARE FORMS WERE CROSSED WITH GIANT SQUAREHEAD

The curves representing the means of both the F_1 and F_2 generations show intermediacy between the parental curves. The F_1 curve, as has already been mentioned, shows, as a rule, a higher degree of squareheadedness than the F_2 . The F_2 curve shows a general rise of the mean more or less in proportion to that of the *culgare* parental curve. The F_1 curve, being based on measurements of very few plants, shows great irregularities although it follows the general lines of the F_2 curve.

The curve to be considered is that formed by the F_2 means. Although this curve shows a general rise, it cannot be said that the means of the F_2 increase or decrease directly in proportion with the means of the *zulgare* parents. There are other factors introduced by the *zulgare* parents which, combined with those contributed by the squarehead parent, tend to neutralize or accelerate the production of squareheadedness. For example, Fultzo-Mediterranean produced an F_2 progeny of a very high degree of squareheadedness, and the corresponding rise of the F_1 curve shows that this rise is significant. Mealy and Minnesota 169, although of a higher degree of squareheadedness, produced individuals of lower mean squareheadedness.

The influence of the *vulgare* parent on the squareheadedness of *vulgare* x squarehead-compact crosses is seen in table 9. In the crosses in this table the squarehead-compact parent is Dale Gloria. The *vulgare* parents, Turkey, Turkish Amber, and Mealy, have coefficients of 0.92, 1.04, and 1.14, respectively. The ranking of the F_2 means is in the same order, and coincidently the differences between them are in proportion with the differences existing between the *vulgare* parents.

Because crosses between squareheads produced only squareheads, and those between *vulgare* forms only *vulgare* forms, it cannot be concluded that the degree of squareheadedness of the offspring is entirely dependent on that of the parents, for the determining factor is not the degree of squareheadedness of the parental forms but the peculiar combination of factors introduced by each variety. The mean squareheadedness expressed by a variety is but the resultant of the effects of these factors.

FALSE DOMINANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS

Since the F_2 progeny of a vulgare x vulgare cross consists only of vulgare forms, theoretically one would expect such a cross to produce

S26
SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

only non-squareheads in F_1 . This has not always been the case. In table 3 (page 814), giving the results of three Mealy x Jones Longberry crosses, the parental means are 1.14 and 1.12, averaging 1.13, and the means of the F_2 -generation plants are 1.12, 1.17, and 1.11, also averaging 1.13. But the F_1 -generation plants in all three cases were distinctly squareheads, with means of 1.35, 1.50, and 1.42, respectively. In this paper the figures for squareheadedness or for density of F_1 plants represent the averages of usually from five to ten heads of each plant. If the apparent degree of squareheadedness of the F_1 plants indicated their approximate genotypic make-up, it would be expected that the F_2 distribution would range somewhat near the mean of the F_1 plants. The F_2 plants in these three cases were all *vulgarc*, showing that the appearance of F_1 plants of a high degree of squareheadedness in these cases did not show any type of dominance of squareheadedness.

These crosses may be contrasted with the Dawson Golden Chaff x Pride of Genesee cross (13177a), in which the F_1 plants were all *vulgare*, their mean approaching that of the F_2 .

The appearance of squareheads in the F_1 generations of series 13158a, 13178a, and 13179a, and the absence of such forms in 13177a, may be accounted for by the supposition that in the first three crosses the combinations of growth factors contributed by the parents were favorable to the production of squareheads, while those contributed by the parents in series 13177a were not favorable.

The presence of squareheads in F_1 and their total absence in F_2 in series 13158a, 13178a, and 13179a, may be regarded as cases of false dominance.

RELATION OF WIDTH OF CULM TO SQUAREHEADEDNESS

The part of the culm below the base of the spike tends to be wider in squareheads than in heads of uniform internode length. The data here considered were taken on the progeny of a lax squarehead x $\tau ulgare$ cross, which was not as favorable a material for the study of this character as would have been some other crosses in which a more intense squarehead was used. The results, however, were satisfactory enough to illustrate the degree of correlation between squareheadedness and width of culm.

In taking measurements for squareheadedness of the F₃ generation of series 13135a, the width of the culms of some 260 heads was measured also. The measurement was taken about 2 centimeters below the basal rachis internode. The resulting data are shown in correlation form in table 10. The coefficient of correlation in this distribution is $0.465 \pm$ 0.033, which is significant.

IAE	5LE	10.	Corri	eries 1	ветw 3135а,	Giant S	Squarel	r of C lead X	Mealy	AND S	QUAREI	HEADEDNESS
			0.8	0.9	1.0 1.0	Degree o t.t	f squar 1.2	eheade 1.3	lness 1.4	1.5	1.6	1.7
					ł							
ulm	t.6				t							
S G	1.8		1	-1	9	10	3	Ĩ		1		
n to	2.0	1	1	11	25	28^{-1}	12	8	t			
HE.	2.2			2	15	18	8	5	-t	4		
mi	2.4			3	7	12	15	13	5	2	t	
)ia	2.6				1	2	6	7	6	2		t
Π	28						3	T	2			

$r = 0.465 \pm 0.033$

The writer considers this correlation as not due to any form of linkage but as a direct result of squareheadedness, which is caused in turn by the shortening, or rather hampering of the development, of the terminal part of the spike due to pressure produced by rapid development of the culm internode immediately at the base of the head, and to the failure of the sheath enveloping the spike to grow at a corresponding rate. When the longitudinal growth of the culm internode is checked or retarded, growth naturally takes place in other directions, often causing a thickening of the culm wall. A similar thickening of the wall of the culm occurs also in non-squarehead dense plants and more pronouncedly in squarehead dense plants. In these cases, however, the thickening seems to be due to the presence of the density factor, which shortens the culm internode length as well as the length of the rachis internode. Due to dwarfing, the plant cannot grow in height. The food produced constantly by the plant is stored partly in the culm, thus increasing the thickness of its walls.

The club wheat owes its ability to stand erect in the presence of strong winds to the presence of the density factor, which, as mentioned above, produces thickening of the culm and incidentally of other parts. This factor, which is later considered at length, causes the shortening of the culm also, without affecting the number of nodes. The shortening of the culm internodes increases the number of nodes to each unit of length, thereby giving the culm added strength; moreover, the shortening of the culm lowers the leverage. These three conditions, direct or indirect results of the presence of the density factor, are the chief causes of the non-lodging quality of dense wheat.

INHERITANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN SPELT X SATIVUM CROSSES

In crosses wherein the spelt character has been introduced, the curve of the F_2 generation is very distinctly skewed near the extreme of the range on the side of the non-squarehead classes (table 11). True spelts

	0.80	35	96	95	00	1 05	10	15	20	25 D	egr	35	of s	qu f	are 08	hea	dec 09	ine 19	20 22	75	80	SX.	06 1	95	5 00	2 05	2 10	2 15	2 20	М	lean	Number of plants
	2	2	-	2	-	-	-	_	-	=	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-		-	Ξ	-	-	-	1		-		
13125a Crimean x White Spelt 13260a White Spelt x Turkey 13216a Giant Squarehead x White Spelt		19	10		1.4	N N	0 5	qน: qน:	ireh	nea nea	ds ds		0	2																1	01	73
13255a White	Ú	112	12	11	14	0	3	é	1	1	ŭ		-	9		1															01	10
Spelt x Dale Gloria 3085a Black Bearded Spelt	5	7	10	2	11	4	6	4	22		ī	3	2	1	1	2	2	1		1										1	10	71
x Jones Long- berry				4	17	4	6	3	2	1		1			1	2			2	1			1		2	1	I		1	1	24	50

TABLE 11. SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN SPELT X SATIVUM CROSSES

differ in their ability to carry the factors producing squareheadedness. It cannot be determined from the appearance of the spelt plants whether or not they carry the squareheading factors, as the spelt character acts as an inhibitor for squareheadedness. In fact, the presence of a large number of individuals in the non-squarehead classes of spelt x sativum crosses is the result of the presence of a large number of spelts, which, although carrying the squareheadedness factors, were themselves non-

squareheads because they carried also the spelt factor, which, as stated above, acts as an inhibitor for the squarehead character.

Five crosses between spelts and *satizums* are shown in table 11.⁵ Series 13125a and 13260a, which were crosses between *vulgare* and White Spelt, produced F_2 generations composed of non-squareheads only. When this same spelt form was crossed with Giant Squarehead (series 13216a), a number of squareheads were produced in F_2 . The White Spelt x Dale Gloria cross (13255a) also showed a fair number of squareheads (Plate LXVII, upper, 6 to 12).

From these results it is seen that the White Spelt does not carry the necessary factors for squareheadedness, since when it was crossed with *vulgare* it produced no squareheads. Squareheads appeared only when a squarehead form was used as the *saticum* parent.

These four crosses were carried through F_{3} . The first two crosses produced practically no squareheads; a few were obtained, but they were not tested to ascertain their stability. The remaining crosses produced F_{3} progeny which were composed of forms of various degrees of squareheadedness. Since the spelt factor acted as an inhibitor, the spelts of the F_{3} showed no squareheadedness. The non-spelts produced curves similar to those shown in tables 6 and 7.

That there was no so-called repulsion between the spelt and squareheadedness factors was evident from the reappearance of squareheads among the progeny of some F_2 spelts, and from the absence of squareheads among the offspring of other F_2 spelts.

Another spelt form, known as Black Bearded Spelt, when crossed with a *vulgare*, Jones Longberry (series 3085a), produced a large number of squareheads. These forms were more intensely squareheaded than those produced by the White Spelt x Giant Squarehead cross (13216a).

About ten spelt x vulgare crosses, with Black Bearded Spelt as one of the parents, were examined by the writer, and in every case there were a large number of squareheads in the progeny, most of which were semi-dense.

The progeny of cross 3085a were not carried through F2, but another

 $^{^5 {\}rm The}~{\rm F2}$ segregations of these crosses were in the proportion of 3 spelts or spelt-like forms to 1 $_{saticum.}$

SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

831

cross between this same Black Bearded Spelt and a *vulgare* showed that most of the squareheads bred true.

If it is recalled that some of the F_2 spelts of the squarehead x White Spelt cross produced squareheads in F_3 while others that were phenotypically like the former did not, it will not be difficult to understand how the Black Bearded Spelt could have produced different results from those of the White Spelt. It appears, from these examples, that spelts may carry the squareheadedness factors the same as do squarehead *sativums* themselves, but due to the presence of the spelt factor, which acts as an inhibitor, such spelts do not appear squareheaded.

This leads to the consideration of another condition. Since the presence of squareheadedness cannot be detected without a genetic analysis, one may come across a spelt form which, crossed with *vulgare*, may sometimes yield squareheads and sometimes not. Either such a spelt is heterozygous with respect to squareheadedness, or the variety to which it belongs has not been stabilized with respect to this character. As the investigator is guided by apparent characters in purifying a line or in calling it a pure line, he cannot detect the segregation of non-detectable factors which is going on within his selected line.

EFFECT OF THE SPELT FACTOR ON SQUAREHEADEDNESS In the discussion of the inheritance of squareheadedness in spelt x sativum crosses, it was mentioned that the spelt factor inhibited square-

TABLE 12. RELATION OF SOUAREHEADEDNESS TO SPELTING

				(Ser	ies	13216	a, G	iant	Squ	areh	ead :	Z W	hite	Spe	lt)			
							Deg	gree o	of squ	ıareh	leade	dues	8					
			80	22	90	95	8	05	10	<u>[]</u>	0	5	30	5	10	15	20	55
			C	0	0.	0		~	1	1	Ī		-	_	_	_	1	
	1		1	3	3	3	2											
L.(2		1	2	1	1		2										
<u>n</u> n	3		t		1	1	2	2										
elt	-4			1	3	1	1											
<u>d</u> 3	5			2	2	1	3		t									
of	6			1	1	- 3	2											
ree.	7			1			1			1								
50	- 8			2		1	2					1						
	- 9	1			1		1	1	2	1	1		1		2	1		1
	10												2			2		



headedness. The object here is to show to what extent this inhibition takes place. To illustrate this, three types of crosses are used. The first is the Giant Squarehead x White Spelt cross (table 12); the second is White Spelt x Dale Gloria (table 13); and the third is Black Bearded Spelt x Jones Longberry (table 14). In the first two crosses, squareheadedness is introduced by a lax squarehead and a dense squarehead, respectively, and in the last cross it is introduced by the spelt.

The F_2 plants in these tables are classified into ten arbitrary classes of spelting. The spelts in such crosses exhibit the spelt character in various degrees. Those showing it in an intense form are placed in class 1; classes 2, 3, 4, and so on up to 9, show various degrees of dilution of the character; the plants in class 10 are all *saticum* forms, and lack the spelt altogether.⁶

The distribution of the plants with respect to spelting and squareheadedness, as shown in tables 12 to 14, seems to depend to a great extent on the types used as parents. Different spelts crossed with different *sativums* show different modifications. All crosses, however, show the following general distribution: Spelts of classes 1 to 5 inclusive arrange themselves more or less within the non-squarehead classes 0.80 to 1.15. There is a slight tendency in spelt classes 3 to 5 to move the mean toward 1.15. As the classes approach the *sativum* type, the shifting of the mean toward the more squareheaded classes is accelerated in geometrical proportion.

The spelt factor, then, does not prevent squareheadedness altogether, but plants that are heterozygous spelts or those that carry modifiers tending to dilute this spelt character are very much more likely to be squareheaded than plants that are intensely spelted. Squareheadedness in spelts, however, is always of a low degree.

INHERITANCE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN SPECIFIC CROSSES

It has already been shown (page 829) that when Black Bearded Spelt is crossed with a *sativum* of a uniform rachis internode length, an appreciable number of squareheaded forms appear in the F_2 . Squareheads may be obtained also when a *vulgare* is crossed with other species. In table 15 the progeny of a number of interspecific crosses are classified into two groups, the first containing forms resembling the *sativum* type and the second including all the other forms. Their degree of squareheadedness is represented in the usual manner.

In all series a large proportion of the *sativum* or *sativum*-like forms were squareheads. The segregates belonging to other species were practically all non-squareheads.

⁶The genetics of the spelt character with reference to the crosses under consideration has been fully discussed in a recent paper (Leighty and Boshnakian, 1921).

TABLE 15. DEGREE OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS IN SPECIES CROSSES. F2 DATA

3032 Salt Lake Club x Kahle (*Triticum durum*)
3034 Gharnovka (*T. durum*) x Black Bearded Spelt (*T. spelta*)
1312a Poole (*T. vulgare*) x Alaska (*T. turgidum*)
1328a Satisfaction (*T. vulgare*) x Alaska (*T. turgidum*)
1360a Jones Paris Prize (*T. vulgare*) x Kubanka (*T. durum*)

F2 generation	1										I)eg	ree	of	squ	1ar(ehe	ad€	edn	ess						Mag	Number
results	0.80	0.85	0 90	0.95	1 00	1 05	1 10	1.15	1.20	1.25	1.30	1.35	1.40	1 45	1.50	1 55	1 60	1.65	1.70	1 75	1 80	1 85	1.90	1 95	2.001		plants
3032			1	43	2	2 1	2 1	2	2	1	4	6	5	1	2	2		2		2						$\frac{1.32}{1.04}$	35 11
Solation Satirum-like forms * All other forms			2	17	24	3					•••						1	1			1				2	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & 81 \\ 0 & 99 \end{array} $	5 36
Satirum and satirum-like forms. All other forms		4	13	28	1 13	28	4	2	42	22	1 1		2		1				1			2			2 1	$\frac{1.38}{1.08}$	22 58
Sativum and sativum-like forms		3 3	5	4	7	5	1	15	2	1	2	1			1		1	1	. 1						4	1 69 1 10	8 41
Sativum and sativum-like forms All other forms	.		i		. 21	15	1		3	3	• •	i		2	1			12							 	1 33 0 13	9 15

*Series 3034 did not produce true sativums in the F2. \$2.00 or over.

Squareheadedness is not confined, however, to the *sativum* form. Other species, with the exception of the wild wheat, may show this character, particularly the segregates of the *durum*, the *turgidum*, and the *polonicum* types and even the *dicoccum* type. But squareheadedness in these forms is of low degree and is comparatively rare (Plate LXVII, lower).

The analysis of the F_2 forms in specific crosses presents a difficult task because a large number of specific forms appear, of which some are developed and others are very mediocre or sterile with different tendencies toward squareheadedness.

SUMMARY

Squareheadedness, being the result of a combination of growth characters, shows a complex mode of inheritance. Simple mendelian segregations were not obtained in these experiments.

In the F_3 generation there were obtained plants of different degrees of squareheadedness, ranging from forms which were distinctly compacted at the tip to forms which were denser near the base of the ear.

As a rule the range of variation in F_2 depended on the differences between the extremes of the parental ranges. The means of the F_2 approached the parental means.

The F_1 generation usually had a higher coefficient than the parental mean. Some F_1 progeny of two non-squarehead parents were even distinctly squareheads, but in F_2 none of these forms were obtained. These variations from normal expectations are ascribed to heterosis and to greater feeding area.

A coefficient of correlation of 0.465 ± 0.033 was found between width of culms and squareheadedness.

The purely spelt forms were found not to be affected by the factors producing squareheadedness. The more the spelts approached the *sativum* type, the more they were found to be affected. Speltoid forms did carry these factors, as is shown by the fact that among their *sativum* progeny a large number of squareheads of varying intensities were found.

Certain spelts when crossed with a *vulgare* form will produce a large number of squareheads in F_2 . Others will produce only non-squareheaded *sativum* forms.

Squarehead forms may be produced by crossing *Triticum vulgare* with other wheat species.

THE GENETICS OF DENSITY

The discussion in the following pages deals with the genetics of compactness of the dense forms of wheat, and especially of *Triticum comfactum*, the club wheat. The name *club wheat* seems to have been originally given to the squareheads, but at present it is applied almost exclusively to the *compactum* form.

The index of compactness used in this paper is the average rachis internode length. The index is found by dividing the length of the rachis in millimeters by the number of rachis internodes. The denser or more compact the head, the shorter is the length of the rachis internode.

Although there are numerous grades of compactness, the rachis internode length of what is usually called a club wheat does not exceed 2.25 millimeters. The mean density of the club used in the studies presented in this paper was about 1.4 millimeters.

INHERITANCE OF DENSITY IN CROSSES BETWEEN TRITICUM COMPACTUM AND OTHER FORMS OF THE SATIVUM GROUP

The studies of density herein discussed were made on crosses between Dale Gloria (Plate LXVII, upper, 5) and a number of lax forms consisting of both squarehead and *culgare* types. The mean density of the Dale Gloria parent was 1.41 millimeters; the means of the lax parents were in the neighborhood of 4.50 millimeters.

The F, hybrids were all dense, but not quite as dense as Dale Gloria (table 16). They varied from 1.80 to 2.40, depending on the cross.

TABLE 16. SEGREGATION OF DENSITY IN CROSSES BETWEEN DALE GLORIA (COM-PACTUM) AND LAX FORMS

13174a Extra Early Windsor x Dale Gloria

13173a New Soules x Dale Gloria 13172a Mealy x Dale Gloria

13214a Turkey x Dale Gloria

13215a Seneca Chief x Dale Gloria 1337a Turkish Amber x Dale Gloria

13213a Red Wave x Dale Gloria

													De	gr	ee o	of s	qu	are	he	ad	edr	ies	s																Number
	1	3	1	5 1	17	1	9	2 1	1 2	3	2 .	5	2 7	2	9	3 1	3	3	3.	5 3	7	3	94	1	4	3 -	1 5	4	1 -	4 :	9	5 1	5	3	5	5	М	ean	of plants
Parent plants Dale Gloria		6		9	3												1																				1	41*	18
Windsor New Soules Moolu																. 1				4	8		3 5	97		54	4		3	•							434	25 89 53	24 30 14
Turkey Seneca Chief Turkish																							2	3		4	3		-21-44		1						n afr afr	$\frac{34}{48}$	15 11.
Amber Red Wave																				1				3		2	42		3		8	75		3		3	nin nin	82 94	34 14
13174a 13173a 13173a			N		2		2 4	1						[ļ .			. [1 1	80 90	4 4
13214a 13215a 1337a 13213a							1		2	1		1																					1				21222	$10 \\ 90 \\ 30 \\ 40$	2 1 1 2
$\begin{array}{cccc} F_2 \ plants \\ 13174a \\ \\ 13173a \\ \\ 13172a \\ \\ 13214a \\ 13215a \\ 13215a \\ 13213a \end{array}$		1 4		67 51 7 1 2	10 13 7 9 5 1 9		F 8 F 5 8 9 5	1	1 6 7 6 7 6 7	5 77581	1	192168	361		1 4 6			$\frac{1}{2}$		531	3 1 4 5 1		224	5 I 2 3 1 4 9		21222242	1 21 4 21 5 2		$ \frac{1}{4122} $		1 2 1 2	1		1		510	01010101000	59 33 64 74 40 04 87	

*This figure represents the arithmetical average, not the mean of the frequency distribution.

The density curves of the F_2 -generation plants, unlike those of the squarehead x non-squarehead crosses, were all discontinuous, consisting of two well-defined curves. In each case the curve of the dense classes contained about three times as many individuals as that of the lax classes. The proportions of these forms are given in table 17. In five cases the

 Dense forms
 Lax forms

 Dense forms
 Lax forms

 Dense forms
 Lax forms

 Total

Series	Dense Number obtained	forms Number expected	Lax Number obtained	forms Number expected	Devia- tion	Prob- able error	Dev. P. E.	Mean of dense plants	Mean of lax plants	Mean of all plants	Total number of indi- viduals
13174a 13173a 13172a 13214a 13215a 1337a 13213a	40 39 55 54 54 43 47	$\begin{array}{r} 45 & 7 \\ 36 & 0 \\ 57 & 0 \\ 50 & 2 \\ 50 & 2 \\ 48 & 7 \\ 45 & 7 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 21 \\ 9 \\ 21 \\ 13 \\ 13 \\ 22 \\ 14 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 15 & 2 \\ 12 & 0 \\ 19 & 0 \\ 16 & 7 \\ 16 & 7 \\ 16 & 2 \\ 15 & 2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} -+5 & 8 \\ +-3 & 0 \\ -+2 & 0 \\ +-3 & 7 \\ +-3 & 7 \\ -+5 & 8 \\ +-1 & 2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \pm 2 & 28 \\ \pm 2 & 02 \\ \pm 2 & 55 \\ \pm 2 & 39 \\ \pm 2 & 39 \\ \pm 2 & 36 \\ \pm 2 & 28 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{r} 3 & 95 \\ 3 & 74 \\ 4 & 04 \\ 4 & 51 \\ 4 & 12 \\ 4 & 40 \\ 4 & 67 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Total	332	333 7	113	111 2	-+1 8	$\pm 6 16$	0 29	2 09	4 20	2 66	445

deviations from the calculated ratios exceeded somewhat their probable errors, and in two cases the deviations were well within the probable errors. Summing up the results of these seven crosses, of 445 plants obtained in the F_2 generation 332 were dense and 113 were lax; the deviation from the calculated proportions on the 3:1 basis was — + 1.8, which is about one-third of its probable error. These results show that so far as these crosses are concerned the F_2 plants segregate into dense and lax forms in 3:1 ratio, the density being dominant.

Four of these crosses, of which two were with squareheads and the other two with *vulgare*, were carried through the F_3 generation in order to test whether the assumption of the presence of one factor was correct. The results obtained are condensed and given in table 18. Of the 125 F_2 plants tested, 30 were homozygous dense, 67 produced both dense and lax forms, and 28 were homozygous lax. These figures, compared with the calculated proportions—31.2 \pm 3.3, 62.5 \pm 3.9, and 31.2 \pm 3.3, respectively—show a very close agreement with the 1:2:1 ratio. The proportion of plants obtained in each cross taken separately agrees also with the theoretical expectancy, the largest departure being but 25 per cent more than its probable error.

Total number of plants tested 30 125 2633 0 97 Number Number Devia- Probable Dev. 0 33 0 33 ±1 6 1 25 8 -+15 00 ±1.5 +3.3-Homozygous lax forms -2 2 +0.5-20 +0.5-32 9 2 8 0 31 2 2.2 9 œ 9 £~-28 Number Number Devia- Probable Dev. Number Number Devia- Probable Dev obtained expected tion error P. E. obtained expected tion error P. E. $\pm 1 9 0 53$ ±3 9 1 15 ±2 0 1 25 = +1 8 -1-1-Heterozygous dense forms +1 0+ 1 5 +2.5+1 0 0 18.5 15 0 16 0 62 5 13 0 16 67 17 5 11 0 18 IT 0 33 ±1 5 | 1 00 ±1 6 0 63 0 36 士15 +3 3 Ilomozygous dense forms -0.2 -15 -0.5 +1.0+1.25 6 31 2 2 2 6.5 8 0 6 9 9 **a**. 30 13172a Mealy x Dale Gloria 3173a, New Soules x Dale Gloria 3174a - Kuru Early Wind-sor x Dale Glori X Dale 13214a - Turkey x Dale Gloria Total

Boshnakian

SARKIS

- ,

TABLE 18. PROPORTIONS OF HOMOZYGOUS DENSE, HETEROZYGOUS DENSE, AND HOMOZYGOUS LAN PLANTS OF THE F2 GENERATION OF SERIES TESTED IN THE F3 GENERATION The behavior of each individual F_2 plant of the four crosses under consideration is shown respectively in tables 19, 20, 21, and 22. Of the

TABLE	19.	BEHAVIOR	OF	F_{2}	Plants	IN F3-	SERIES	13172a,	MEALY (V ULGARE)) X
					Dale	GLORI	A				

		Mean	Mean	Dense	plants	Lax p	olants			Prob-	Dev.
F2 pedigree	F2 density	of dense F ₃ plants	of lax F3 plants	Number obtained	Number calcu- lated	Numbe r obtained	Numbèr caleu- lated	Total F3 plants	Devia- *tion	abie error	P. E.
30-11 30-21 29-9 29-8 30-2 30-14 30-5 30-18 29-4	$\begin{array}{c} 1.50\\ 1.53\\ 1.57\\ 1.65\\ 1.71\\ 1.73\\ 1.76\\ 1.81\\ 1.89\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.35\\ 1.66\\ 1.18\\ 1.46\\ 1.37\\ 1.52\\ 1.54\\ 1.43\\ 1.71 \end{array}$		29 22 6 20 22 24 24 28 18		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	$ \begin{array}{r} 29 \\ 22 \\ 6 \\ 20 \\ 22 \\ 24 \\ 24 \\ 28 \\ 18 \\ \end{array} $		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
$\begin{array}{c} 2.0-7\\ 30-7\\ 30-6\\ 30-9\\ 30-8\\ 29-6\\ 30-19\\ 29-10\\ 29-10\\ 29-3\\ 29-12\\ 30-20\\ 29-1\\ 29-12\\ 30-20\\ 29-1\\ 29-11\\ 29-11\\ 30-1\\ 3$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.53\\ 1.84\\ 1.85\\ 1.90\\ 2.00\\ 2.00\\ 2.00\\ 2.00\\ 2.10\\ 2.11\\ 2.19\\ 2.25\\ 2.39\\ 2.42\\ 2.50\\ 2.58\\ 2.58\\ 2.58\\ 2.84\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.47\\ 1.47\\ 1.72\\ 1.52\\ 1.69\\ 1.44\\ 1.65\\ 1.80\\ 1.67\\ 2.08\\ 1.80\\ 1.67\\ 2.04\\ 1.83\\ 1.90\\ 1.72\\ 1.93\\ 2.22\\ 1.85\\ 2.00\\ 1.81\\ 1.78\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3 & 08 \\ 3 & 41 \\ 3 & 01 \\ 3 & 56 \\ 3 & 06 \\ 3 & 00 \\ 3 & 53 \\ 3 & 30 \\ 3 & 53 \\ 3 & 33 \\ 4 & 03 \\ 3 & 64 \\ 3 & 15 \\ 3 & 69 \\ 3 & 52 \\ 4 & 23 \\ 4 & 47 \\ 3 & 64 \\ 4 & 26 \\ \end{array}$	24 33 34 18 25 28 19 34 22 22 18 30 32 37 28 19 34 22 22 22 18 30 32 37 18 25 28 19 34 22 22 22 22 18 30 32 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 37 28 19 32 37 28 19 32 37 28 19 37 27 13 37	$\begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 5\\ 32 \\ 2\\ 33 \\ 7\\ 18\\ 7\\ 21 \\ 0\\ 18\\ 7\\ 24\\ 7\\ 27 \\ 0\\ 15\\ 7\\ 24\\ 7\\ 27 \\ 0\\ 18\\ 7\\ 24\\ 7\\ 25\\ 5\\ 29\\ 27\\ 7\\ 7\\ 25\\ 5\\ 28\\ 5\\ 19\\ 5\\ 28\\ 5\\ 28\\ 5\\ 13\\ 5\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} & & & \\$	$\begin{array}{c} 7 & 5 \\ 10 & 7 \\ 11 & 2 \\ 10 & 2 \\ 6 & 2 \\ 7 & 0 \\ 8 & 2 \\ 9 & 0 \\ 5 & 2 \\ 9 & 0 \\ 5 & 2 \\ 12 & 0 \\ 6 & 2 \\ 8 & 5 \\ 5 & 2 \\ 9 & 7 \\ 7 \\ 8 & 5 \\ 9 & 7 \\ 8 & 5 \\ 9 & 5 \\ 10 & 10 \\ 1$	$\begin{array}{c} 30\\ 43\\ 45\\ 41\\ 25\\ 33\\ 36\\ 28\\ 33\\ 22\\ 28\\ 33\\ 22\\ 28\\ 33\\ 22\\ 33\\ 22\\ 33\\ 22\\ 37\\ 47\\ 47\\ 26\\ 38\\ 38\\ 18\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} + - 1 & 5 \\ + - & 0 & 7 \\ + & - & 0 & 2 \\ - & + & 0 & 2 \\ - & + & 0 & 2 \\ + & - & 1 & 0 \\ + & - & 3 & 2 \\ + & - & 1 & 3 \\ - & + & 2 & 2 \\ + & - & 1 & 3 \\ - & + & 2 & 3 \\ + & - & 1 & 5 \\ + & - & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & + & 0 & 5 \\ - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & - & 0 & - \\ - & - & -$	$\begin{array}{c} \pm 1 & 63 \\ \pm 1 & 92 \\ \pm 1 & 92 \\ \pm 1 & 87 \\ \pm 1 & 87 \\ \pm 1 & 46 \\ \pm 1 & 55 \\ \pm 1 & 34 \\ \pm 1 & 36 \\ \pm 1 & 36 \\ \pm 1 & 46 \\ \pm 1 & 68 \\ \pm 1 & 46 \\ \pm 1 & 68 \\ \pm 1 $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Total bete	rozygous pl	ants		517	501 7	152	167 2	669	$ +-15\ 2$	$\pm 7 55$	2 01
30-16 30-12 30-22 30-17 29-13 29-5 29-7	$\begin{array}{c} 3 & 28 \\ 3 & 55 \\ 3 & 75 \\ 3 & 84 \\ 4 & 16 \\ 4 & 27 \\ 4 & 44 \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{r} 3.39 \\ 3.36 \\ 3.12 \\ 3.43 \\ 3.88 \\ 8.65 \\ 4.08 \end{array}$			$ \begin{array}{c} 16\\ 23\\ 20\\ 17\\ 20\\ 17\\ 5 \end{array} $		$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Total Fa	plants	1			1	1	[980	ł		

669 heterozygous plants obtained in series 13172a (table 19), 517 were dense and 152 were lax, the deviation from the calculated ratio being about twice its probable error. In series 13173a (table 20), the ratio between the probable error and the deviation from expectation is 1:5.22, which is rather high. In series 13174a (table 21) this ratio is 1:5.02, and in series 13214a (table 22) it is only 1:0.46. All these results, in spite of the differences between observed and calculated ratios which

F2	F2	Dense	plants	Lax	plants	Total		Probable	Dev.
pedigree	density	Number obtained	Number calculated	Number obtained	Number calculated	F3 plants	Deviation	error	P. E.
32-7 31-11 32-6 31-3 31-9 32-8	$ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$37 \\ 23 \\ 60 \\ 40 \\ 35 \\ 41$	• • • •			$37 \\ 23 \\ 60 \\ 40 \\ 35 \\ 41$		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
$\begin{array}{c} 31.8\\ 32-13\\ 32-14\\ 31-7\\ 32.9\\ 32.16\\ 32.9\\ 32.16\\ 32.5\\ 32.5\\ 32.5\\ 32.10\\ 31-1\\ 32.5\\ 32.2\\ 31-2\\ 31-2\\ 31-2\\ 31-2\\ 31-4\\ 32-12\\ 32-17\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 64 \\ 1 & 65 \\ 1 & 68 \\ 1 & 71 \\ 1 & 71 \\ 1 & 78 \\ 1 & 81 \\ 1 & 95 \\ 1 & 95 \\ 1 & 95 \\ 2 & 00 \\ 2 & 00 \\ 2 & 00 \\ 2 & 00 \\ 2 & 15 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 24 \\ 52 \\ 51 \\ 29 \\ 93 \\ 67 \\ 59 \\ 35 \\ 46 \\ 62 \\ 30 \\ 42 \\ 40 \\ 30 \\ 83 \\ 62 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c} 13\\ 26\\ 21\\ 13\\ 40\\ 23\\ 25\\ 8\\ 16\\ 22\\ 28\\ 10\\ 13\\ 14\\ 31\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9 & 2 \\ 19 & 5 \\ 18 & 0 \\ 10 & 5 \\ 33 & 2 \\ 22 & 5 \\ 21 & 0 \\ 10 & 7 \\ 15 & 5 \\ 21 & 0 \\ 14 & 5 \\ 13 & 0 \\ 13 & 2 \\ 11 & 0 \\ 29 & 2 \\ 23 & 2 \end{array}$	37 78 72 42 133 90 84 43 62 84 43 62 84 58 52 53 44 44 117 93	$\begin{array}{c} ++3 & 8 \\ ++3 & 6 & 5 \\ -++2 & 5 \\ -++2 & 5 \\ -++4 & 0 \\ +++2 & 7 \\ -++1 & 0 \\ -++1 & 3 & 0 \\ ++& 0 & 2 \\ ++& 0 & 2 \\ -++ & 4 & 8 \\ ++& 7 & 8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \pm 1 & 78 \\ \pm 2 & 258 \\ \pm 2 & 58 \\ \pm 2 & 48 \\ \pm 1 & 897 \\ \pm 3 & 377 \\ \pm 2 & 268 \\ \pm 1 & 92 \\ \pm 2 & 268 \\ \pm 2 & 22 \\ \pm 2 & 211 \\ \pm 2 & 13 \\ \pm 1 & 94 \\ \pm 3 & 16 \\ \pm 2 & 82 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2 \ 13 \\ 2 \ 52 \\ 1 \ 21 \\ 1 \ 32 \\ 2 \ 02 \\ 0 \ 18 \\ 1 \ 49 \\ 1 \ 41 \\ 0 \ 22 \\ 0 \ 37 \\ 6 \ 08 \\ 1 \ 42 \\ 0 \ 09 \\ 1 \ 55 \\ 1 \ 52 \\ 2 \ 76 \end{array}$
Total hetero	ozygous plan	ts 805	856 5	337	285 5	1,142	-+515	± 9.87	5 22
31-10 31-6 32-4 32-3 32-1 31-5 31-13 32-11	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			$37 \\ 21 \\ 56 \\ 69 \\ 31 \\ 33 \\ 24 \\ 71$		37 21 56 69 31 33 24 71	· · · · ·	• • • •	····· ··· ··· ···
Total F3 pl	ants		t.			-1.720			

TABLE 20. Behavior of F $_2$ Plants in F $_3.$ Series 13174a, New Soules (Capitatum) \propto Dale Gloria

they exhibit occasionally, show that so far as these crosses are concerned only one factor is involved in the production of density.

Referring to tables 19, 20, 21, and 22, it will be noticed that while in series 13172a and 13214a the proportion of dense and lax forms agreed rather closely, in series 13173a and 13174a an excess of lax forms was recorded in practically every case. In series 13173a, out of 16 heterozygous plants tested all but three yielded an excess of lax forms, while in series 13174a all but one plant yielded an excess of lax forms.

When wheat plants are grown closely together, the roots occasionally tend to intertwine, and unless the heads show variations of segregating gross characters it is not usually possible to determine whether there are two plants or only one. In crosses between dense and lax plants, in which the segregation is 3:1, out of 16 possibilities there are 9 chances

	P	Mean	Mean	Dense	plants	Lax I	olants	75.4.1	Davis	Prob-	Dev.
Pa pedigree	density	of dense F ₃ plants	of lax F3 plants	Number obtained	Number calcu- lated	Number obtained	Number calcu- lated	F3 plants	tion	error	P.E.
34-3 34-8 34-11 33-5 33-15 33-9	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c}1 & 29\\1 & 28\\1 & 36\\1 & 28\\1 & 30\\1 & 28\end{array}$	· · · · ·	$29 \\ 25 \\ 22 \\ 46 \\ 46 \\ 39$	• • • •	· · · · · · · ·		$29 \\ 25 \\ 22 \\ 46 \\ 46 \\ 39$	• • • • •		
33-4 33-2 34-4 34-6 34-12 34-5 33-6 33-7 33-3 33-13 34-10 33-11	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c}1&37\\1&57\\1&57\\1&57\\1&54\\1&69\\1&39\\1&54\\1&60\\1&60\\1&60\\1&60\\1&57\\1&65\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3 & 09 \\ 3 & 77 \\ 3 & 69 \\ 3 & 31 \\ 3 & 32 \\ 3 & 32 \\ 3 & 34 \\ 3 & 34 \\ 3 & 42 \\ 3 & 34 \\ 3 & 42 \\ 3 & 50 \\ 3 & 50 \end{array}$	59 56 31 23 18 49 45 47 23 45 47 23 51.	$\begin{array}{c} 64 & 5 \\ 63 & 7 \\ 32 & 2 \\ 24 & 0 \\ 24 & 0 \\ 17 & 2 \\ 51 & 7 \\ 48 & 0 \\ 50 & 2 \\ 48 & 7 \\ 24 & 0 \\ 52 & 5 \\ 57 & 0 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 27 \\ 29 \\ 12 \\ 9 \\ 5 \\ 20 \\ 19 \\ 22 \\ 18 \\ 9 \\ 22 \\ 25 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	86 85 43 32 23 69 64 67 65 32 70 76	$\begin{array}{c} -+55\\ -+78\\ -+13\\ -+10\\ +-07\\ -+28\\ -+30\\ -+53\\ -+10\\ -+45\\ -+60\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \pm 2 & 70 \\ \pm 2 & 69 \\ \pm 1 & 92 \\ \pm 1 & 65 \\ \pm 1 & 40 \\ \pm 2 & 43 \\ \pm 2 & 32 \\ \pm 2 & 32 \\ \pm 2 & 36 \\ \pm 2 & 2 & 36 \\ \pm 2 & 44 \\ \pm 2 & 55 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2 & 04 \\ 2 & 90 \\ 0 & 68 \\ 0 & 61 \\ 0 & 50 \\ 1 & 15 \\ 1 & 29 \\ 2 & 22 \\ 0 & 76 \\ 0 & 61 \\ 1 & 84 \\ 2 & 35 \end{array}$
Total hete	rozygous pla	ants		518	558 0	226	186-0	744	-+40 0	± 7 96	5 02
33-10 34-1 33-1 34-9 34-7 33-16 33-12	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	••••	3 20 3 35 3 35 3 86 3 62 3 33 3 77	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	$22 \\ 34 \\ 35 \\ 18 \\ 24 \\ 42 \\ 51$		$22 \\ 34 \\ 35 \\ 18 \\ 24 \\ 42 \\ 51$			
Total F3 p	lants							1,177		1	

TABLE 21. Behavior of F $_2$ Plants in F $_3.$ Series 13174a Extra Early Windsor (Capitatum) ${\rm x}$ Dale Gloria

that a dense plant will grow next to a dense plant, 6 chances that it will grow next to a lax plant (or that a lax plant will grow next to a dense plant), and I chance that a lax plant will grow next to a lax plant. In other words, where entangling exists due to close planting, there will be six cases in which this condition will be detected and lax and dense plants separated, and nine cases in which it will be overlooked because the heads will all be dense and will show no visible difference. If this factor of entanglement is present whereby some dense plants are overlooked, theoretically there will be fewer dense plants than are expected.

If the degree of experimental error introduced by this factor is calculated, it will be found that if, among 50 plants forming a segregating population, there are two or three cases in which a dense plant has been interlaced with its neighbor and is not separated, the differences between recorded and theoretical ratios will be about as great as those shown in tables 20 and 21.

		Mean	Mean	Dense	plants	Lax	olants			Prob-	Dev.
F2 pedigree	F2 density	density of dense F3 plants	density of lax F3 plants	Number obtained	Number calcu- lated	Number obtained	Number calcu- lated	Total F3 plants	tion	able crror	P. E.
38-8 39-9 38-12 38-14 38-14 38-11 38-9 38-13 38-4	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c}1 & 46\\1 & 76\\1 & 41\\1 & 49\\1 & 66\\1 & 51\\1 & 61\\1 & 58\\1 & 49\end{array}$		68 45 97 85 33 59 83 57 44		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	····· ···· ···· ····	68 45 97 85 33 59 83 57 44			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
$\begin{array}{c} 40.3\\ 40.6\\ 38.15\\ 40.1\\ 39.3\\ 40.2\\ 39.2\\ 38.2\\ 40.7\\ 38.10\\ 39.5\\ 40.8\\ 38.7\\ 40.8\\ 38.5\\ 38.7\\ 40.4\\ 40.4\\ 40.10\\ 39.6\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 57 \\ 2 & 11 \\ 2 & 28 \\ 2 & 35 \\ 2 & 35 \\ 2 & 53 \\ 2 & 53 \\ 2 & 57 \\ 2 & 61 \\ 2 & 75 \\ 2 & 75 \\ 2 & 61 \\ 2 & 75 \\ 2 & 89 \\ 2 & 90 \\ 2 & 94 \\ 3 & 00 \\ 3 & 06 \end{array}$	$\left \begin{array}{c}1.37\\1.65\\1.58\\1.64\\1.67\\1.91\\1.76\\2.08\\1.92\\1.96\\1.87\\2.13\\2.16\\2.23\\2.18\\2.20\\2.28\end{array}\right $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 73\\ 47\\ 35\\ 42\\ 29\\ 53\\ 52\\ 10\\ 46\\ 30\\ 24\\ 48\\ 23\\ 47\\ 48\\ 51\\ 73\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 4\\ 8\\ 19\\ 22\\ 13\\ 20\\ 17\\ 7\\ 10\\ 10\\ 7\\ 30\\ 9\\ 13\\ 13\\ 13\\ 14\\ 22\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 19 \ 2 \\ 13 \ 7 \\ 13 \ 7 \\ 16 \ 0 \\ 10 \ 5 \\ 18 \ 2 \\ 17 \ 2 \\ 14 \ 0 \\ 10 \ 7 \\ 7 \\ 19 \ 5 \\ 8 \ 0 \\ 15 \ 0 \\ 15 \ 2 \\ 23 \ 7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 77\\ 55\\ 64\\ 42\\ 769\\ 17\\ 560\\ 31\\ 782\\ 60\\ 615\\ 95\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} +-15 & 2 \\ +-15 & 5 \\ -+5 & 5 \\ -+6 & 0 \\ -+2 & 5 \\ -+2 & 5 \\ +-4 & 0 \\ -+2 & 8 \\ +-4 & 0 \\ -+10 & 5 \\ -+10 & 5 \\ -+10 & 5 \\ -+10 & 5 \\ -+10 & 5 \\ -+12 & 0 \\ +-2 & 2 \\ +-2 & 2 \\ +-2 & 2 \\ +-1 & 2 \\ -+1 & 7 \\ -$	$\begin{array}{c}\pm 2 & 56\\ \pm 2 & 17\\ \pm 4 & 2 & 34\\ \pm 4 & 2 & 30\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 30\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 30\\ \pm 4 & \pm 1 & 2 & 50\\ \pm 4 & \pm 1 & 2 & 65\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 28\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 28\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 28\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 36\\ \pm 2 & 28\\ \pm 4 & \pm 2 & 36\\ \pm 2 & 85\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5 & 94 \\ 2 & 63 \\ 2 & 56 \\ 2 & 56 \\ 1 & 32 \\ 0 & 02 \\ 2 & 33 \\ 1 & 83 \\ 0 & 43 \\ 4 & 07 \\ 0 & 61 \\ 0 & 88 \\ 0 & 96 \\ 0 & 93 \\ 0 & 60 \end{array}$
Total hete	erozygous pla	ants		731	726 7	238	242 2	969	+-42	$\pm 9_{-}09_{-}$	0 46
38-3 38-1 38-6 39-1 38-16 40-5	$ \begin{array}{r} 4 & 06 \\ 4 & 11 \\ 4 & 14 \\ 4 & 21 \\ 4 & 59 \\ 5 & 29 \\ \end{array} $		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			37 12 41 32 58 91	•••	$ \begin{array}{r} 37\\ 12\\ 41\\ 32\\ 58\\ 91\\ 1531 \end{array} $	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · ·
A 17 0 66 8 3 5	CALWING CO.										

 TABLE 22. Behavior of F2 Plants in F3. Series 13214a, Turkey (Vulgare)

 x Dale Gloria

In crosses 13173a and 13174a, density was the only visible differentiating character; hence the separation of the entangling plants depended merely on that character. In series 13172a and 13214a, in which the experimental errors were practically as much on one side as on the other, the error due to entangling was reduced, respectively, by the introduction of the pubescent glume character through the Mealy parent, and by the color of chaff and the beardedness introduced by the Turkey parent. The introduction and consequent segregation of these characters enabled the author to detect the presence of more than one plant, and through their separation the degree of experimental error in these two sets of crosses was greatly lowered.

INFLUENCE OF THE DENSITY OF THE LAX PARENT IN A LAX X COMPACTUM CROSS ON THE DENSITY OF SUCCEEDING GENERATIONS

In connection with table 16 (page 836) the reader perhaps noticed that there was a tendency on the part of some F_1 and F_2 generation frequencies to be shifted somewhat toward the laxer classes while others tended to shift toward the denser classes. Since the dense parent (Dale Gloria) was the same in all seven cases, these variations, if hereditary to any extent, should be ascribed to the influence of lax parents which represent the variable factors.

The mean densities of parent and offspring are represented graphically in figure 80. The curves are arranged in the ascending order of the



FIG. 80. INFLUENCE OF DENSITY OF LAX PARENT ON DENSITY OF F1- AND F2-GENERATION PLANTS

densities of the lax parents. The straight lines fitted to the curves show a general rise; that is, with the increase of the average internode length of the lax parent, the average internode length of the F_1 and the F_2 increase more or less in the same proportion.

The slopes of the fitted lines for the F_1 , the total F_2 , and the dense F_2 segregate, are practically the same, being 0.089, 0.086, and 0.090, respectively. Those for the lax parents and the lax F_2 segregates show also a general rise but of a higher degree. It should be borne in mind that the higher the class values, the greater is the tendency of the curve toward a higher inclination.

The curves representing the densities of the F_1 and the dense F_2 segregates follow each other very closely. The other curves also follow the same general course. Evidently the material representing the cross with Mealy was somewhat denser, because both the F_1 and the F_2 curve show a similar rise at that point. The rise of the Mealy parent is not in the same proportion.

Aside from these differences, it should be noted that the values of P_1 and F_1 are higher because they represent crops grown in different years and also because they were spaced more widely than the F_2 plants. Besides, the F_1 perhaps shows vigor due to heterozygosis, which, together with increased food supply due to the wide distances between plants, tends to increase the size of the spike without increasing the number of spikelets, which in turn tends to increase the average internode length.

RELATION OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS TO THAT OF THEIR PROGENY

The comparison of the density of F_2 and of F_3 plants leads to the decision as to whether the variations in density, especially of the F_2 heterozygous plants, are hereditary or represent mere fluctuations due to external conditions. To be sure, environmental conditions, as is pointed out in the first part of this paper, have a great influence on the degree of density. The plants used in this experiment were grown on a small area, and consequently the environmental factors had practically as much opportunity to affect the density of one plant as that of another.

In comparing the density of the F_2 plants with that of their progeny, series 13214a may be taken as an example. Deductions based on this cross will apply as well as for the other crosses. The mean densities of

the F_2 parent and the offspring, as shown in table 22, are represented graphically in figure 81. Comparison of the density curves of the F_2 plants with the mean density curves of their progeny shows that, especially in the case of the heterozygous F_2 plants, there is a correlation between the density of the F_2 and that of their F_3 segregates. Since there is such a correlation between F_2 and F_3 , these apparent fluctuations are



FIG. 81. COMPARISON OF DENSITY OF F2 WITH THAT OF DENSE (HOMOZYGOUS OR HOMOZYGOUS AND HETEROZYGOUS) AND LAN PROGENY

hereditary variations. It goes without saying, then, that these F_2 heterozygous plants are not genotypically identical with respect to compactness, and that, although all the F_2 heterozygous plants have the general formula Cc, they carry besides this factor a group of other factors which tend to increase or decrease compactness.

RELATION OF DENSITY OF DENSE AND LAX SEGREGATES OF HETEROZYGOUS $\rm F_2$ PLANTS

The presence of factors modifying the degree of density may be further demonstrated by a comparison of the curves of the dense segregates

with those of the lax segregates. This test is made on the assumption that if a group of modifiers is introduced there will be as much chance for these to be transmitted to the dense segregates as for them to be transmitted to the lax forms of the progeny of heterozygous dense F_2 plants; in other words, both dense and lax forms will receive the same dose of modifiers. Accordingly, if a set of modifiers shifts the mean of the dense segregates, say about five classes, toward a plus or a minus direction, the mean of the lax segregates should be shifted likewise, to the extent of as many classes at least, and very likely more, toward the same direction.

On examining the density frequencies shown in tables 23, 24, and 25, it will be noted that whenever the dense segregates of F2 heterozygous plants are grouped toward the laxer classes the curve of the lax segregates corresponding to them tends also to arrange itself in that direction, and vice versa. For example, in table 23 (series 13214a), of the progeny of 40-3 the dense forms are very dense, with a mean density (table 22) of 1.37. The density of the lax form is 3.18. Comparing this with the progeny of 38-2, the mean of whose dense segregates is 2.08 and of the lax 4.30, it may be seen that whatever interfered with the compactness of the dense plants of 38-2 affected also the density of the lax forms. Throughout tables 23, 24, and 25, in which the details of the frequency distributions are given, the same phenomenon may be observed. The relation between the mean density of the dense segregates and that of the corresponding lax segregates of the F₃ progenv of each heterozygous F_o plant of series 13214a (table 22) is shown graphically in figure 82. It is seen in these graphs that with the increase or decrease in the density of the dense plants, the density of the lax forms varies in the same direction. This is a direct evidence that besides the density factor there are also modifiers affecting the degree of density within the dense and the lax classes.

GENERAL CONSIDERATION ON THE FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS OF COMPACT X LAX CROSSES

Each dense x lax cross has its own peculiar type of frequency distribution, either in the first or in later generations. The type of distribution seems to depend on the density of the parents concerned and on the





HETEROZYGOU'S F2 PLANTS

set of modifying factors introduced by them. In the discussion of table 16 (page 836) it was brought out that lax plants differ from one another in degree of density, and that the density of their progeny varies according to the density of the lax parent, the dense parent being the same. As to the question of modifiers, the frequency-distribution tables 23, 24, and 25 show the characteristics of the curves of each cross.

In series 13214a (table 23), although there is a gap between the dense and lax curves, in a number of cases this gap is not so evident. In figuring out the ratios the determination of the possible line of separation was a matter of judgment in some cases. Series 13172a (table 25) shows a wider gap. To a very small degree the fewness of the plants may account for it. The plants of series 13174a (table 24) show a much wider gap and the presence of two definite curves is at once seen. In crosses between dense and lax forms, all gradations between a distribution such as is shown in series 13174a, and a continuous skew curve, may be obtained.

Crosses made between semi-dense squareheads (often classified as clubs) and lax forms produce an uninterrupted curve which makes it practically impossible to separate them into dense and semi-dense, and lax genetic, classes.

Regarding the mendelian classifications of segregating lines such as those produced by the heterozygous F_2 plants of series 13214a, it will not be out of place to make a few remarks. Some workers on this subject have taken a certain class of density as a dividing line between dense and lax forms, presumably based on the classes of least frequency of the F_2 curve. While such a method may be more or less satisfactory in a cross similar to series 13174a (table 24), it is absolutely unjustifiable in genetic studies and unsuitable for the great majority of crosses in which dense or lax forms appear. In the first place, since F_2 and F_3 plants are grown in different years they do not necessarily show the same degree of density. This is shown in table 23. There is practically no heterozygous plant of the F_3 generation which produced a curve similar to that of the F_2 . Theoretically about half of the F_3 curves should have approached the F_2 curve. The reason for this failure lies in the fact that the F_3 plants were grown under more favorable environmental con-

2
P
9
\sim
1
7
0
-
- ×
~ >
1
_ ¥
2
1
1
+
-
21
3
-
10
- 63
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
0,
~
1L
Z
5
VT'S
S.LN
ANT'S
PLANT'S
PLANT'S
PLANTS
7.2 PLANTS
F.2 PLANTS
F. PLANTS
DF F2 PLANTS
OF F.2 PLANTS
OF F2 PLANTS
IN OF F.2 PLANTS
ITY OF F2 PLANTS
SITY OF F2 PLANTS
NSITY OF F2 PLANTS
ENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
F DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
OF DENSITY OF F.2 PLANTS
DR OF DENSITY OF F.2 PLANTS
IOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
VIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
AVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
HAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
EHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F.2 PLANTS
BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
3. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F.2 PLANTS
23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
E 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
LE 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
3LE 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
ABLE 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS
ABLE 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F.2 PLANTS
TABLE 23. BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS

.

OVEL 01		1	ci —
6 F			
8 +	- 01		
1 +	-		1 01
9 1			
C F			
t t	· C1 CO		00101
1.3			0
7.1	-		+ co - + 1 + 40
Tł	- 01		+ 03 - + 01
0.1	- 63 -		
6.8	-		1 22 24 42 12
8.8			
1 8	1		
9.0			- 9-27
2.2			N N N 10 4
1 2 4			12 12 0
2 2			
2.8			1
1.6			·
0.0	. 01	01 m	01 mm m 01
6.2			- 21 01
8 2			
1 2	• • • <del>गर्</del> ष		· · · <del>·</del>
0 2	. C3		
0 2	· · 6		
+ Z			
5 2	· · · ·		
2 2			
1.7	· 10	0	
0.7	- C1	4	
6 1	c	10 -014-47	-
8 1	C.3	0 0000-0	
11	1 0	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	
91	c1 ·	*02×*0525%+00%****000%**	
9.1	- 0		
† I			
1.3		P. P. S.	
7 I	C.1	10 - 10 - 10 10	
II			
0.1			
0.			
		8	
		22777779998822211188888882572899999	8====
			वे। न्द्रे। स्त्रे। स्त्रे। स्त्रे। स्त्रे
	13	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
	flor.	11 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	
	e G key	$\begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \\ c \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{bmatrix} c \\ c \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{bmatrix} c \\ c \\ c \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{bmatrix} c \\ c \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{bmatrix} c \\ c \\ c \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{bmatrix} c $	ರ ೧೦೧೦ ೧೦ ೧೦ <del>೧</del>
	ala		

### Squareheadedness and Density in Wheat





### SOUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

SERIES 13172a, MEALY X DALE GLORIA BEHAVIOR OF DENSITY OF F2 PLANTS IN F3. TABLE 25.

ditions than were the  $F_3$ . Now if, for example, density class 3.2 based on the  $F_2$  curve (table 23) is taken as the dividing line and is used for separating the dense and lax forms of the  $F_3$ , it will be noticed that a large number of lax forms of the  $F_3$  will be included in the dense class.

It has been mentioned that each  $F_s$  curve has its peculiar mode of distribution. In tables 23 and 25 it is shown that the frequencies of some dense curves extend beyond the classes where the curves of some lax forms have begun. The peculiarity of each curve necessitates the taking of each curve and the separation of the dense from the lax forms at the class or the probable class of least frequency. If the density curves of segregating forms are not prepared, more trustworthy results can be obtained by classifying the forms by eye than by taking an arbitrary dividing line. This latter method can be used in cases in which the variations are discontinuous.

In specices crosses, discontinuous curves are the exception rather than the rule, and separation of dense and lax forms into two genetic classes by an arbitrary dividing line has no meaning because such a separation cannot be made even by the examination of the curves, even disregarding the fact that some specific forms which carry the density factor may be laxer than most of the *vulgare* forms.

That density is a dominant character and is inherited in the 3:1 ratio has been shown by Spillman (1902), Strampelli (1907), Wilson (1907), Von Tehermak (1910), Nilsson-Ehle (1911), Mall (1912), Parker (1914), and others. The three last-named have called attention to the fact that forms laxer and denser than the parental types are obtained also in *compactum* x *vulgare* crosses.

The use of the word squarchead for semi-dense forms by some authors accounts for the disagreement of their results. Von Rümker (1909) obtained from compact x non-compact crosses, compact, squarehead, and  $\tau ulgarc$  forms in approximately the ratio 1:2:1. No doubt the "squareheads," which proved to be heterozygous, were heterozygous club forms. Von Rümker cites another case in which the F₂ segregated into dense and lax forms approximating 3:1, there being no squarehead forms. The heterozygous forms in this cross could not be distinguished from dense forms.

### SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

Biffen's (1905) results, which are often cited as contrary to those obtained by others, seem rather to agree with Von Rümker's. Such differences as exist are due to methods and nomenclature. Biffen crossed Squarehead's Master with Red King, the average internode lengths being. respectively, 3.2 and 4.6 millimeters. The F, hybrid ears averaged 4.8 millimeters in internode length, and the F_s ranged from 3.2 to 5 millimeters. In this early work the frequencies are not given, but it appears that the distribution was of the normal, or skew, type. Using 4.6 (the mean of Red King, or the internode length of this lax parent) as the dividing line, Biffen found that 78 plants were laxer than the lax parent and 22 were intermediate between the dense and the lax parent, while there was no form denser than Squarehead's Master. From this result Biffen concluded that in this case laxness was dominant. In the first place, Squarehead's Master, with an internode length of 3.2, does not fall in the *compactum* class and the cross should not be included in that category. In the second place, the use of the density of the lax parent as the dividing line seems to be too arbitrary and unjustifiable from a genetic standpoint.

Neither does Biffen's Rivet x Polish cross fall in this category, since it does not belong to the *sativum* group. In crosses of this type specific segregations occur which greatly complicate ratios. His Devon x Hedgehog cross is of the semi-dense *compactum* x lax type. The photographs shown in the article cited, and also by Bateson (1909:23), show that the  $F_1$  is intermediate dense and the  $F_2$  evidently approximates the 3:1 ratio, the heterozygous forms being slightly laxer than the dense parent.

Biffen's results, then, so far as the *compactum* x lax cross is concerned, may be regarded as being in accord with similar work done by others.

Since different types of dense and lax forms have been used by various investigators, their results with respect to degree of density have been different. Segregation into two distinct curves is obtained as the degree of density of the parents approaches the extremes of the dense and lax classes. As a rule, the closer the parents approach in degree of density, the more continuous the curves will be. This statement applies for crosses made within the *sativum* group. The existence of several factors producing varying degrees of density is evident.

### THE NATURE OF DENSITY FACTORS

Three questions of special interest arise, regarding the nature of the density factors producing varying degrees of density in so-called pure lines. They are: (1) Is the density of the *compactum* type caused by but one factor pair, and are the degrees of density produced by the presence of modifiers? (2) Do the forms varying in degree of density carry different density factors allelomorphic to one another, or (3) Are they caused by multiple factors?

A considerable amount of work has yet to be done to answer these questions definitely, as numerous genetic analyses are necessary. A few suggestions based on experimental results can be made, however, regarding the probable nature of these density factors.

The results of all the *compactum* x lax crosses reported thus far show the presence of but one density factor; a 15:1 ratio has not yet been obtained. But in crossing a *compactum* with a somewhat dense *vulgare*, not infrequently forms are obtained which are laxer than the *vulgare* and denser than the *compactum* parent. For the sake of simplicity in previous discussions, this occurrence was ascribed to the presence of modifiers. The writer believes that these modifiers are secondary factors representing varying degrees of density. The factorial combinations according to this hypothesis, and their corresponding phenotypes, may be illustrated in the following manner:

Ρ1				CC dd x compactum	cc DD slightly dense	e vulgare	
Fı				Cel compactur laxer than d	Dd n slightly lense parent		
F ₂	1 2	CCDD CCDd	1 CCdd 2 CcDE	2 Cedd 4 CcDd	1 ccDD	2 ccDd	l ccdd
			12 compacti	1 772		4 vulgare	
	:3	denser than dense parent	3 approx mately same of sity as dense parent	i- 6 laxer of than len- dense parent	1 same as vulgare parent	2 slightly laxer than vulgare parent	l much laxer than vulgare parent

### SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

In the preceding outline, C stands for the high degree of compactness introduced by the *compactum* parent, and D for the slight degree of compactness exhibited by the *vulgare* parent. This hypothesis accounts for the production of stable forms CCDD denser than the *compactum* parent and *ccdd* laxer than the *vulgare* parent.

In instances in which lax stable forms somewhat denser than the lax parent appear, the phenomenon may be explained according to the same hypothesis. If the above extreme dense *CCDD* and lax *ccdd* forms taken as parents are crossed, stable forms denser than *ccdd* will be obtained according to the factorial combinations.

If there are different factors of density producing the *compactum* type, certain crosses between two *compactum* forms should give 1 in 16 or 1 in 64 lax forms. Let it be supposed that the *compactum* parents have the genotypic forms  $C_1C_1c_2c_2$  and  $c_1c_1C_2C_2$  where there are two different C factors. With two factor differences, one plant out of sixteen in the  $F_2$  should have the  $c_1c_1c_2c_2$  constitution, therefore being very lax. The writer knows of but one cross between two club forms, and from that cross, among 130  $F_2$  plants no lax forms were observed, although considerable variations were found within the dense classes. In this case both parents seemed to be homozygous for the same C factor; and the C factors contributed by both parents either were identical or belonged to the same allelomorphic series.

The author has evidence that the density factor of the *compactum* type may belong to a multiple series. The Black Bearded Spelt carries a density factor which may be isolated by crossing it with a lax *vulgare* form. About three-fourths to one-half of the  $F_2$  vulgare forms are dense and semi-dense. In five such crosses the results have been similar. This shows that a C factor is carried by this particular spelt. If this factor is identical or forms an allelomorphic series with another C factor, the  $F_2$  satisfy segregating in a cross between this spelt and a club should be all dense. The fact that in such a cross lax satisfy forms also are occasionally obtained, shows that in this case there were two distinct C factors involved.

Another C factor is carried by the *dicoccum* form known as Black Winter Emmer. When this form is crossed with a *vulgare* it throws

a certain proportion of distinctly dense saticum individuals. The  $F_2$  plants from eight such crosses were examined and compact forms were recorded in every case. As in the preceding instance, in the  $F_2$  derived from two Black Winter Emmer x club crosses, consisting of about 150  $F_2$  individuals, soft lax vulgare types could be counted, although most of the saticum types were dense. Here again it appears that, as in the preceding cross, two different non-allelomorphic multiple C factors were introduced.

Summarizing the foregoing discussion, it is apparent that:

I. There are density factors each producing shortening of the rachis internode in different degrees. These may be present in addition to the *compactum* factor.

2. There is as yet no sufficient evidence that some *compactum* factors may form an allelomorphic series. Neither is there any evidence that such series may not exist.

3. There exists in wheat more than one density factor belonging to multiple series. If such multiple density factors are present, eventually 15:1, 63:1, and other ratios will be obtained from *compactum* x *culgare* crosses.

FACTORS PRODUCING SQUAREHEADEDNESS AS COMPRISING ONE OF THE GROUP OF FACTORS MODIFYING DEGREE OF DENSITY

A modifier, as generally held, may be a factor affecting a particular character quantitatively, the presence of which is detected from the degree of modification of the character which it modifies. In a broad sense, however, any factor or character whose presence affects or even inhibits more or less the expression of another character should be regarded as a modifier.

The irregularities among the  $F_a$  density curves of dense x lax crosses shown in this study were ascribed to the presence of modifiers, as the genetic analyses applied to the crosses showed conclusively the presence of but one density factor. Proofs that these variations were hereditary, and not caused by environmental conditions, were also given.

The nature of one of these modifiers, the character for squareheadedness, may here be considered. In crosses in which a non-squarehead was involved, it was noticed that there was an independent segregation of

density and squareheadedness, and that whenever the latter character was present, whether the plant was dense or lax, there was, as a rule, a reduction of the average internode length.

Density notes derived from series 13172a are summarized in table 26. This cross, it will be recalled, is between Mealy, a lax non-squarehead,

All squareheads		More squ than	uareheads rulgare	Squarehead	is=rulgare	More than squ	r <i>ulgare</i> ua <b>r</b> eheads	All vulgare			
Pedigree	Density	Pedigree	Density	Pedigree	Density	Pedigree	Density	Pedigree	Density		
30-19	3 00	29-1	3 15	29-3	3.30	29-5	3 65	29-2	3 64		
30-22	3 12	29-6	3 06			29-14	4 26	29-7	4 08		
		29-13	3 88			30-1	4 23	29-10	3 70		
		30-6	3 41			30-8	3 56	29-11	3 69		
		30-7	3 08			30-10	3 52	29-12	4 03		
		30-9	3 01			30-16	3 39	30-3	3 53		
		30 - 12	3 36			30-17	3 43	30-4	3 56		
		30-13	3 33					30-15	3 47		
								30-20	3 64		
Mean and											
average error	$3.06 \pm 0.04$		$3.28 \pm 0.07$		3 30		$3.72 \pm 0.11$		$3.71 \pm 0.05$		

TABLE 26. MEAN DENSITY OF F3 LAX PLANTS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO<br/>PROPORTION OF SQUAREHEADS AND VULGARE FORMS. SERIES 13172a

and Dale Gloria, a dense squarehead. In this cross both density and squareheadedness segregated independently. The table shows the density of the lax forms of the  $F_3$ -generation lines arranged in five classes, according to the observed proportions of squareheads to non-squareheads. In the first class are included the  $F_3$  plants which consisted of squareheads only; the second class includes the pedigrees that produced more squareheads than *culgare* forms; the other three classes represent progenies consisting of an equal number of these two forms, of an excess of *culgare*, and of only *vulgare*, respectively.

By averaging the degree of density of each group it is found that the average internode length increases inversely with the proportion of squareheads. The average internode length of the squareheads was  $3.06 \pm 0.04$ , while that of the plants producing an excess of squareheads was  $3.28 \pm 0.07$ . The densities of the class yielding more *vulgare* than squareheads and that producing only *vulgare* were  $3.72 \pm 0.11$  and  $3.71 \pm 0.05$ , respectively. The difference in the average internode length of the extreme classes was  $0.65 \pm 0.06$ . Comparison in terms of the average of the means of these two classes, shows this difference between the density of pure squareheads and that of pure *vulgare* to be equal to about 20 per cent of their means, which is rather remarkable.

Were the lax plants of the  $F_a$  generation all or practically all squareheads, one would expect the elimination of variations as great as those found in the crosses between *vulgare* and dense squareheads. Series 13174a (table 24, page 850), which represents a cross between a squarehead and a dense squarehead, shows the absence of shifting of the curves back and forth, so evident in tables 23 and 25, which represent dense squarehead x *vulgare* crosses.

Although the variations introduced by the presence of both *vulgare* and squarehead forms is eliminated in cross 13174a (table 24), other modifiers must be present because the curves still show inheritable variations. The nature of these remaining modifiers is not as yet known.

It is not difficult to explain how squareheadedness increases density. Physiological studies show that squareheadedness, which is brought about by the shortening of the terminal internodes, is due to contact and pressure caused by the differential rate of growth of parts of the plant surrounding the spike during its earlier periods of growth. If, during the process, the terminal internodes fail to attain their normal size, that part of the head will be denser than it would have been if the plants were allowed to grow normally. This shortening of internodes of the terminal part of the head is the direct cause of the decrease of the average internode length of the entire head.

RELATION OF SQUAREHEADEDNESS TO DENSITY IN F2-GENERATION PLANTS

The modes of inheritance of squareheadedness and of density have been discussed separately herein. It is necessary now to illustrate the relation between these two characters in crosses in which both of these characters have been introduced. Series 13172a, 13214a, 1337a, and 13173a (tables 27, 28, 29, and 30, respectively), which have already been considered, will be used again as examples, because each illustrates a different mode of inheritance.

Before examining the behavior of the  $F_2$  plants, the distribution of the parent plants with respect to density and squareheadedness may be reconsidered. This distribution, although based on few numbers, is shown graphically in figure 83. The plants recorded do not represent samples of



Fig. 83. distribution of parental plants with respect to density and squareheadedness

the varieties used in making the crosses'; they are the progeny of each of the plants used as parents.

Dale Gloria, it is seen, is distributed within a very narrow range with respect to density, but within a wide range with respect to squareheadedness. This latter range does not represent the genotypic range of the variety, if one may be allowed to use that expression. The length of the rachis itself is about 2 to 3 centimeters. If the terminal spikelets are ster-

ile, as often happens in dense clubs and less frequently in lax forms, this sterility and rudimentary condition will keep the terminal rachis internodes from developing further while the other internodes continue their growth. A head of this type will have a high coefficient of square-headedness. If, on the contrary, the terminal florets develop vigorously, the increase in the size of the grain will tend to stretch the internodes somewhat. With a vigorous growth of the grain is associated a relative growth of the adjacent internodes, and with as short a head as that of the club in question it does not take much increase in internode length to lower the squareheadedness of some individuals down to classes 1.00 to 1.25.

The distribution of New Soules is entirely different from those of the other lax plants used in the crosses. It is somewhat more toward the denser classes and falls distinctly within the squarehead classes.

Turkish Amber is a *vulgare*, but its average internode length is greater than that of any other of the forms represented.

## TABLE 27. Relation of Squareheadedness to Density in $F_2$ Segregates. Series 13172a, Mealy x Dale Gloria

(Mean dense plants, D=2.01, Sq.=1.34; mean lax plants, D=3.95, Sq.=1.23)

		Squareheadedness																			
		$\tilde{s}$	60	95	<u>9</u>	0.5	10	13	50	33	30	35	40	13	50	55	$\overline{0}$	65	10	75	
		 Ξ	0	$\bigcirc$	-			-	-		-	-		-	-			-		1.	
Density	1.5 1.7 1.9 2.5 2.5 2.9 3.1 3.5		]			1 1 1	1 1 1	$\frac{1}{2}$	1 3 1 1	$ \frac{1}{412} $	1 1 2	1 1 1	$     \begin{array}{c}       1 \\       2 \\       3 \\       1     \end{array} $	2 1 1	1 ] 1	$\frac{2}{2}$	1 1 1	1		1	
	$   \begin{array}{c}     3 & 5 \\     3 & 7 \\     3 & 9 \\     4 & 3 \\     4 & 5 \\     4 & 7 \\     4 & 7 \\   \end{array} $	1	1		1	1 1 1			2		1	1	]	1		1				1	

Mealy has practically the same distribution as Turkish Amber but is somewhat less lax.

Turkey is the least lax in the *vulgare* group and is located very much toward the non-squarehead classes.

The mode of inheritance which might generally be expected in compactum x culgare crosses is that of the Mealy x Dale Gloria series (table 27), which shows a wide range of distribution with respect to squareheadedness. Theoretically, since Dale Gloria carries the factors responsible for squareheadedness and Mealy does not, both density and squareheadedness would be expected to segregate independently, which happens in this case. Using, for practical purposes, class 1.30 or 1.35 as a dividing line, it is seen that there are about as many individuals on the side of squareheadedness as on the side of non-squareheads. By using as a guide the distribution of the Mealy parent shown in figure 83, it becomes very evident that in this cross the character of squareheadedness has been introduced among the non-squareheads. The mean value of squareheadedness of the lax parent is 1.14 and that of the lax plants of the cross is 1.23, showing an increase of 0.09. While out of 15 Mealy parental plants (figure 83) there was but one individual in the squarehead classes in the F. generation, out of a total of 20 plants there were about four or five times more individuals in these classes. In table 26, which represents the same cross, it has been shown that some of these lax squareheads remained stable.

The distribution when Turkey was the lax parent (table 28) was strikingly different from that in the case of Mealy. In the Turkey x Dale Gloria cross, no lax squareheads appeared.

On comparing the dense classes of tables 27 and 28 with respect to their squareheadedness distribution, it is seen that the entire distribution has been shifted to the left in the latter table. The mean squareheadcdness of Dale Gloria is 1.28; that of the dense plants of the cross is 1.17, showing a shifting of 0.11 toward the non-squarehead classes. While the squareheadedness of the dense form is affected by that of the lax forms, the difference in the coefficients of the lax parent and the lax segregates, these being 0.92 and 1.00, shows that the lax segregates are in turn influenced to some extent by the squareheadedness of the dense parent.



(Mean dense plants, D=2.18, Sq.=1.17; mean lax plants, D=4.23, Sq.=1.00)

							2	Squa	rehea	aded	ness					
		0.80	0.85	0.90	0.95	1.00	1.05	1.10	1.15	1.20	1.25	1.30	1.35	1.40	1.45	1.50
Density	$\begin{array}{c}1&5\\1&7\\2&2&5\\2&2&7\\2&3&1\\3&3&5\\3&3&5\\3&4&4\\4&5&4\\4&5&1\\5&2\end{array}$	1		2 1 1	1 1	1 4 1 2 1 1	1 1 4 2 1	2	1 3 1	2 1 1 1 3	21	1 2 2 1	12	1	1 1 1	1 t

In the cross in which Turkish Amber was used (table 29), the squareheadedness of the lax segregates occupies practically the same position as that of the lax parent itself, the values of squareheadedness of the lax parent and the lax segregates being 1.04 and 1.07, respectively. This slight shifting toward the non-squarehead classes may well be disregarded. Unlike the condition in the preceding cases, the dense forms showed no visible effect of the lax parent. The mean squareheadedness of the dense segregates, instead of being less, was slightly greater than that of the dense parent and practically the same as in series 13172a.

In the fourth cross (table 30) the lax parent was New Soules, a distinct squarehead. The lax segregates of this cross were all squareheads, and with regard to density they occupied the same position as the lax squarehead parent (figure 83).

Incidentally it should be noted from this table that, while the range

S62
TABLE 29. Relation of Squareheadedness to Density in F₂ Segregates. Series 1337a, Turkish Amber x Dale Gloria (Mean dense plants, D=2.23, Sq.=1.35; mean lax plants, D=4.30, Sq.=1.07)



of density of the dense segregates of other crosses extends as far down as class 3.1, that of this cross (table 30) is confined within classes 1.3 to 2.1 with but one individual in class 2.5. This difference is accounted for by the higher degree of density of New Soules (figure 83) as compared with those of the other lax forms.

Recapitulating the points of interest brought out in the discussion of these four tables, the following general deductions can be made:

I. The factors of density and those of squareheadedness are totally independent of each other. They segregate and recombine independently.

2. The wheat varieties of the *saticum* group have different degrees of density and of squareheadedness. Even among the *culgare* plants this latter form of compactness, as measured by its coefficient, varies. In

TABLE 30. RE	LATION OF Series 1	SQUAREHEADED	NESS TO DE	NSITY IN	F ₂ Segregates.
(Mean dense	plants. D=	1.64.  So.=1.43:	mean lax pl	ants. $D=3$	.64. So.=1.59)

								-Sq	uare	head	edne	ss						
		.10	.15	.20	.25	.30	35	.40	.45	.50	.55	.60	.65	.70	. 75	.80	.85	
	I	1		Ļ	1		-	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	-			-,
Density	1,577,9,1,3,577,9,1,3,577,9,1,3 1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,5,77,9,1,3	1 1 2		1	1	1	21111	l 2 1	1 I 1 1	111	1	1 1	1	1	1 2	1	1	

crosses in which one parent is the same, not all *vulgare* nor all squareheads nor all dense forms produce a frequency distribution of squareheadedness or of density of the same type and within the same range. Whether the range will remain approximately in the same location, or will shift one way or the other, is determined to a great extent by the degree of squareheadedness or of density of the different forms of *vulgare* or squareheads, as the case may be, which are involved in the cross.

3. There are exceptions to the general rule stated above. In series 1337a there was a visible segregation of density but not of squareheadedness. In this case there was evidently interference by another factor.

Nilsson-Ehle (1911) considers the inheritance of squareheadedness and gives a factorial explanation to account for the apparent proportion in which it appeared in some of his crosses. But, while Nilsson-Ehle used the term *squarehead* for lax forms—which have a comparatively shorter average internode length than the *vulgare* forms—that term is applied in the present paper to forms showing a relative density of the

middle and the upper third of the spike of about 1.33 or over, irrespective of the average internode length. It is not possible to compare Nilsson-Ehle's results and hypothesis with those from this study.

RELATION OF LENGTH OF RACHIS TO DENSITY IN HYBRID PLANTS

Length of rachis is dependent on two factors, namely, the number of internodes and their length. If the number of internodes in a population is more or less constant, as has been the case in all the crosses between Dale Gloria and other forms considered herein, the length of the rachis is directly proportional to the average internode length. This is so obvious that it needs no illustration.

If both factors are made variable by the selection of parents which vary both in number and in length of internodes, then there is no correlation between length and density. As an illustration a cross may be cited which was made by the writer for this purpose. This cross was Silver Club x *Acgilops ovata*. Silver Club (Plate LXVII, upper, 3) is a club wheat from four to five centimeters long, with about seventeen to twenty internodes. The Acgilops (Plate LXVII, upper, 1) also was short, like the club wheat, but had only six internodes of an average length of about six to seven millimeters. The basal internodes were the shorter, their spikelets being rudimentary.

Unlike the parents, the  $F_1$  plants all had long heads, resembling the spelt wheat. Three plants obtained in the  $F_2$  also were lax. The point of interest in this cross was that the  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  plants did not inherit length of rachis from their parents, but number and length of internodes. The  $F_1$  heads usually had from twelve to fourteen internodes from sixto seven millimeters in length. The three  $F_2$  plants showed some variation in length. In the  $F_1$  plants, both characters being intermediate, the heads were necessarily much longer than in either parent. It would be expected, if sufficient  $F_2$  plants were obtainable, that the plants would segregate with respect to both characters into short heads dense and lax, that is, with many and with few internodes, and also comparatively long heads dense and lax, with possible intermediate forms.

In this connection it may be pointed out that what has been called vigor due to heterosis in wheat is often the appearance of unusually long heads in  $F_1$  or later generations in crosses with certain emmers.

These are, as a rule, somewhat dense and bear some thirty internodes to the spike. Hence the question is rather one of number of internodes and internode length. The plants that combine the internode length of the *culgare* parent with the number of internodes of the emmer must necessarily be unusually long.

In actual practice, in a cross such as the above a considerable number of synthetic spelts appear. These spelts have the peculiarity, as is shown later, of producing internodes longer than those of the lax parent. The appearance of this new type helps to increase the proportion of unusually long heads.

RELATION OF LENGTH OF CULM TO RACHIS LENGTH AND DENSITY

In a pure line of wheat there is practically no correlation between culm length and density, but there is a correlation between culm length and length of rachis. The plant that produces a short culm due to unfavorable environmental conditions naturally produces a small head; but such a head as a rule has fewer rachis internodes than the mean of the line, and therefore, although the undeveloped head is short, its density has not been affected to any extent because the number of rachis internodes has decreased more or less proportionately.

The writer's studies of the relation of culm length to density were made on series 13214a, because this line produced practically no squareheads. Squareheading, it has been shown, unless it is due to favorable growth conditions, has a tendency to shorten the average rachis internode length. There being no squareheads in the material used, that factor was eliminated.

The question of the relation of culm length to other characters of the head is of interest from both the economic and the genetic viewpoint. Because of the many phases to which this problem of density has led, it was not possible in this investigation to study the relation of culm characters as intensively and extensively as the subject deserves. Sufficient data have been obtained, however, to give an idea of the general behavior of this character.

Due to the great variability of culm length, the preliminary studies were made with a number of progenies of  $F_2$  plants each of which had yielded on an average about 60 individuals. The frequencies of the

		3.0	1	++ ++	25 03 03 03 03	222	71 01 80	16 36 61	53 05 51	59 47 66	68 16 61	88.82	59 06 52	59 05 69	825 825 835	92 69 29
		Me		20.	+ 69 e	040	30 ao ao	20 00 00	75 3 1	22	20 4 27	33 2	3 in ei	90 1 1 m	sc m =	24 4 61
	Number	of tilants		0 <del>1</del>	37 46 46	55 55 55 55 55 55	27 <del>1</del> 7 <del>1</del> <del>1</del>	63 63 60	$\frac{72}{69}$	56 55 55 56 56 56	27 7 7 7 7 7 9	57 57 58	64 61	93 94 91	56 55 55	57 55 56
I D	II	15 5	I 9	1.1	1 1 1		: : :	1.1.1	:::	: : :		्र : :	: : .	- :	112	
66	10	11.1	6 9	: :	: : :	: : : :	1.1.1		1.1.1	1.1.1	1.1	\$9 <u>;</u> ;			111	1.1
1 20	DI	II	<u>1</u> 9	11	: : :		: : :	:::	. : :	. : .	: : :	21 <del>- 1</del> - 1	- : :	eo	: :	1.1
S	91 0	) []	ç ç	: :	: : :	: : : :	:= :	:		: : :	- : :	÷1 —	∞ : :	~ ∶ .		: -
13	01 9	10 0	5 3	- 10		: : : .	-	:::	: : : :	. : :	1.1		~	9	1	
1	01	01	I ĉ	2 -	: : :	: : : :	. ~ .	: : :		: : :	21 1 1	20.23	₽~ ÷ .	9	: :	
1	66	816	6 †	0-0	9 : : :		*** 1 1	and read	: : : :		cr : :		10	0 21		1.1
	26	₹ 6	1.3	: 04 :	: : د <u>م</u>	: : : :		61.00	:	: : :	°? – ∶	10 4 H	9 : .	** :00 ;		· •
	<u>26</u>	0 6	<u>e'</u> ‡	0110.0	<u>۲</u> : ۲		*******				P1 : :	10.02.23	× : :	41 : 03	~ : ~	01.01
	63	9 8	1.3	10 10 I	° : :	: : : 01			- : :	- : :	۰° . :	0 + x	r~ . :	11	+- :	- : :
	16	2 8	T	000	× ::	LO	e 9 e	**		- : :	-	10	6000	000	~~ · · ·	03 <del></del>
. (	68 68	512	6.5		· - :	et :				: : :	- :~	~ 7 ~	4 01 01	4.95		* : ?
-	18	+ 2	2.5		• : :	· m : ==	944	0101	· ~ : :	10 ; ;	000	t~ 10 00	4000	1907	÷	0121
1-	- 58	0 2	3.2	01-10-1	• : :	0101	404	+ · m	in : :	6 : :	+ -	13.81	00 <del>- 1</del> - <del>1</del> - <del>1</del>	12.23	* ; ;	9
-	28	9.9	3.3	$\infty \mapsto 0$	N <b>-</b> :	: ** : :		90101	140 : :	9 : :	4-0		01-01	4 13	r	5-6
-	18	2.9	3.1		: : :	. <del></del>		¢1 4	1- : :	× :			- 01 -	00 C C C		91
-		8 0	6.7		: : :	: 01 00 00	+	0000	140 : :	- xe					cr: 01	
-		t c	1.2	- 01	- 01 -			1	¢1 ⊷ ;	2 : :	C112 ;	: . :		11 3	10 01	9
1-		0.0	C 7		. wju	10100	01 : :	مۇرى بىر	t~ · ·				0.4		c) =	00 - 00
_		0 +	8 7			- 00 <del>49</del> 100	+	000	- e				C1 20 C1	and .	0100	
			1 7			<u>।</u> - भारत जा				00 - 00			- 01 00		[~ L.	905
-	12 	6 1	e : t		- 6.00	ا	C1 · ·		 	+0.0			-0.0-		- 12	-15-10
	69 	3 6	0 1		· m 20 -	- ·			004	101				-		- 
	<u></u> -	3 1			· · · · ·			_	= 10 x -1 01							-360 00
_	<u>99</u>	3 0	ç I		· · · · · · ·	• · · ·			01 FO	10 IC						03.01
	93	5 6	1 3													
1	19	2 2	[ [		. ~ .			:::	- 04 A22 02		. : :					
	6 <u>9</u>	S'I	6 0	: :	; ~ ;	: :	: : :	- :			- :	. :				
	ters)	eters)	th (millimeters)	dın.	c internode	<ul> <li>a laternode</li> <li>a laternode</li> <li>a laternode</li> </ul>	dur. Lebis c'internade	llm. tchis	alm the telis	achis internode	alm achis	ılıı aehis i internode	alm achis v. iuternode	alın achis	ılm. achis v. internode	ulm achis v. internode
1.	IEDe	tim	leng	54	A C R	A C R	044	1044	ಕ ರೆಷೆಕೆ	: J≅4	: C& 4	524 4	5ª4	CRA	0HA	U M A
	h (cent	th (cen	Thode	~~~~												
	m lengt	his lengt	rage inte	ідтее -3	4-4	Ū-5	.9-	L->	s-5	8~9	3-10	S-16	ş-()	0-5	9-6	7-0
	Cul	Rac	Ave	Ped 38	50	3	35	35	35	00	33	20	4(	÷	7	**

TABLE 31. RELATION BETWEEN CULM LENGTH, RACHIS LENGTH, AND AVERAGE INTERNODE LENGTH

three characters, culm length, rachis length, and rachis internode length, are shown in table 31, together with their means. The  $F_3$  lines included in this table are arranged according to the order in which they were planted—38-3, 38-4, 38-5, and so on, representing successive rows of plantings. An inspection of the table shows that these three characters — length of culm, length of rachis, and average internode length—are more or less closely correlated. As a rule the lines with long culms produced lax plants and those with short culms yielded dense plants. It is seen from the curves in figure 84, prepared from the data in table 31, that



The curves show the relation of culm length to rachis and internode length. The order of the families corresponds to the order in which they were planted

when the mean of one of the characters decreases or increases, the others vary as a rule in the same direction.

There being no inherited variation in number of internodes (which averages about 20 to the spike) in the  $F_3$  lines, the curves of rachis length and average internode length follow each other very closely. The curve of the culm length, although in a general way varying with density, shows certain irregularities, especially in the case of lines 38-6 and 40-4. The former is a homozygous lax type and the latter is heterozygous; yet the mean culm length of the former is considerably less than that of the latter, although theoretically it should have been greater. The possibility of the effect of environmental conditions being out of the question, it appears that there is a segregation of culm length independent of the dwarfing caused by the presence of the *C* factor. This statement is made as a suggestion only, since at the present time no definite explanation can be given.

A fact which seems rather interesting is that the *C* factor does not shorten the culm length in the same proportion as it shortens the rachis length. The averages of the rachis and culm lengths of the homozygous lax (*cc*) plants were about 7.7 centimeters and 89 centimeters, respectively. The presence of the double dose of the *C* factor (in 38-4, 38-8, and 38-9) shortened the rachis length to an average of 3.2 centimeters and the culm length to about 74 centimeters, a shortening of 58 and 17 per cent, respectively, from the general average. In other words, while the rachis length was shortened by the *C* factor by more than one-half, the culm length was shortened but one-sixth.

Studies of the characters of dense and lax segregates have led the author to believe that the C factor is a dwarfing factor, shortening, besides the culm length, the rachis length, and the rachis internode length, a number of other characters such as length of glumes, length of kernels, length of awns, and length of culm internodes. These two last-named characters have not been studied carefully by the author. Sapehin (1916) and his collaborators, who studied the correlation between density and culm internode length, claim that there is a significant positive correlation between these two characters. From the present studies it seems apparent that the shortening of the culm as a result of the pres-

ence of the factor for density, is due not to the reduction in number of culm internodes, but to the reduction in length of the culm internodes, the number of these, internodes remaining more or less constant. In this respect the phenomenon of the shortening of the culm is similar to that of the shortening of the rachis. It has been demonstrated by various workers that in maize also dwarfing causes the shortening of the internodes of the stalk without necessarily affecting their number.

In a general statement such as is made here regarding the presence of a correlation between density of the head and shortness of the culm, it is not intended to convey the idea that dense plants or varieties are all to be short, and lax plants tall. The cardinal points brought out are (1) that when the factor of density or its absence has been introduced in a progeny through hybridization, provided there are no interfering factors, the dense plants will be more likely to have short culms than the laxer plants; and (2) that this shortening of the plant is caused, not by the reduction in number of culm internodes, but by the reduction in their length. It should be borne in mind, however, that these characters are affected by environment. From a genetic viewpoint the exhibition of a quantitative character in an individual plant is of little value especially if this is affected by environment. The comparative height of a plant is determined by the behavior of its progeny.

## CORRELATION BETWEEN AVERAGE INTERNODE LENGTH AND LENGTH OF STERILE GLUMES

One of the proofs that the density factor is a dwarfing factor is found in the high degree of correlation existing between the average internode length and the length of the sterile glumes. The material for the study of this correlation consisted of the spelt plants of series 13255a-15, representing a cross between Dale Gloria and White Spelt. This  $F_3$  line segregated into dense and lax *sativums* and spelts. In the data here only the spelts are represented. The spelts were selected primarily because the glumes could be readily removed from the spikelets, as they break off uniformly at the base of the glume at a definite region just below the heel. With *vulgare* forms the taking of measurements is somewhat more laborious. The measurements of the glumes recorded here rep-

resent the average of the length of opposing sterile glumes on the same spikelet at a distance from the base of the spike of about one-third the length of the rachis. This precaution was taken because the glumes shorten as they approach the distal or the basal part of the head.

The correlation between average internode length and glume length is represented in table 32. The correlation coefficient here is  $0.838 \pm$ 

 TABLE 32. Correlation between Density and Length of Sterile Glumes

 (Series 13255a-15, Dale Gloria x White Spelt; only the spelts measured)

				Len	igth of g	lumes (i	n millin	eters)		
		6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	8 5	9.0	9 5	10.0	10.5
Ч	1.5	1	1	1						
agt	2.0		3							
rs)	2.5		3	6						
ete	3.0		1	1	3	2				
imo	3.5					1				
ite.	4.0					2				
1 H H	4.5				1	2	1	1	2	
age (i1	5.0						1		1	1
ver	5.5							1	1	
A	6.0					1	1			1

 $r = 0.838 \pm 0.039$ 

**0.039**, which shows significantly that in this particular cross the factor decreasing rachis internode length is the one causing the shortening of glumes. The relation of density to glume length may be readily seen on heads 6, 7, and 8 in Plate LXVII (upper), which show the grades of density and consequently of glume length.

CORRELATION BETWEEN AVERAGE INTERNODE LENGTH AND LENGTH OF KERNELS

The same degree of correlation exists between density and length of kernels as between density and glume length. The measurements of the length of the kernel as here recorded represent the average length of the first and second kernels developed on the basal florets. Of these two kernels the first was very often longer than the second. In cases in which either the first or the second basal floret had not produced seed, the third seed was not measured in its stead because the third seed is always likely to be smaller. In such cases a different spikelet was chosen, the samples being taken always at a distance from the base of the head of about one-third the length of the rachis.

TABLE 33. Correlation between Density and Length of Kernels

Correlating these two characters as shown in table 33, a correlation

(;	Series	132558-	15, D	ale G Leng	th of	x Wi kernel	nite S ls (in :	pelt; millim	only leters)	the s	peits	meası	ired)
		5.6	5.8	6.0	6.2	6.4	6.6	6.8	7.0	7.2	7.4	7.6	7.8
th	1.5		1			1		1					
ы Б	2.0	1			1	1							
rs)	$2^{-5}$	1			2	5	1						
ode	3.0				- 3 -	1	1	2					
in c	3.5						1						
aillin	4.0							2					
	4.5								5		2		
ag .	5.0									1		1	1
vel	5.5								1		1		
F.	б.0						1	1		1			

 $r = 0.747 \pm 0.024$ 

coefficient of  $0.747 \pm 0.024$  is obtained. Compared in terms of the respective probable errors, this is as high as or slightly higher than the correlation between density and glume length.

The width of the kernels was not affected by the length of the kernels or by density. This density factor does not seem to produce diminutiveness but to shorten along one axis only. The width of the kernels, whether taken laterally or dorsi-ventrally, remaining practically the same, the shape of the kernels assumes a spheroid form among the dense segregates and a long spindle form among the lax plants.

Since density is correlated with length of glame and length of kernel, it is obvious that in this material there is also a direct correlation between length of glume and length of kernel.

RELATION OF DENSITY OF RACHIS TO DENSITY OF RACHILLA

A rachilla is the rachis of a spikelet, and branches out from the main rachis. A spikelet may have three or more rachilla internodes; the basal one is very short, but toward the terminal part of the spikelet the internodes elongate and then shorten again.

#### SQUAREHEADEDNESS AND DENSITY IN WHEAT

It is practically impossible to measure the average rachilla internode length. For comparative purposes, however, the relation of density to average rachilla internode length can be determined indirectly by noting the extent of the protrusion of the fertile glumes of the florets. The relative distance between the fertile glumes of the first and the third floret on different wheat heads indicates their relative rachilla internode length, as is illustrated in figure 85.



Fig. 85. Spikelets of spelts of varying degrees of density, showing relation of internode length (x, x', and x'') to length of sterile glumes (y, y', and y'') and relative rachilla internode length as determined by distance between the tips of the fertile glumes of the first and third florets (z, z', and z'')

To bring out the correlation between rachis and rachilla internode length it is necessary to find a population comprising wheat plants of the same species which are segregating into dense and lax forms.

Dense and lax spelt plants of series 13255a-15 are represented, respectively, in A and B of figure 85. The illustration shows that the laxer was the form, the more did the florets protrude above the two sterile glumes. In figure 85, C, is represented the appearance of a synthetic spelt of un-

usual length derived from a *durum* x  $\tau$  *ulgare* cross. It shows a further increase in rachis internode length, together with a relative increase in glume length.

These observations, which unfortunately cannot be presented in the usual form of a correlation table, indicate that C, the factor for compactness, shortens also the length of the rachillae or that of their internodes.

# THE FACTOR FOR SPELTING ACTING AS A MODIFIER FOR THE DENSITY FACTOR

Density, like squareheadedness, is affected to a large extent by the presence of the spelt factor. In series 13255a, which represents a cross between White Spelt and Dale Gloria (Plate LXVII, upper, 4 to 12), there is but one spelt factor. Spelts and satirums segregate in this cross in the simple monohybrid ratio of 3 spelts of all grades (heads 6, 7, and 8) to 1 sativum (which includes compactum [heads 9 and 10], squareheads [head 11], and *vulgare* [head 12]). In a cross in which one of the parents is a spelt, the inheritance of density cannot be studied if all the plants are classified according to density alone, for, as will be seen, in the presence of the factor for spelting the factor for density does not produce compactness in the same degree as it does in the absence of the spelt factor. Therefore, in determining the mode of inheritance in such cases, it is necessary to take into consideration both the degree of spelting and the density, and in interpreting the data the density curves of the spelt and those of the sativums should be examined separately.

The difference in density of the spelt and the saticum form may be best illustrated by the density curves of the progeny of the two  $F_2$  plants, one of which was homozygous dense and the other was homozygous lax, but both of which segregated into spelts and saticums. The relative density of spelts and saticums is shown in table 34. The plants of 13255a-26 are segregates from the Dale Gloria x White Spelt cross. They are all homozygous dense, but are derived from  $F_2$  plants heterozygous for the spelting character. If S stands for the spelting factor and C for compactness, the  $F_3$  progeny of line 13255a-28 consists of SScc. Sscc, and sscc individuals, while 13255a-26 consists of SSCC,

TABLE 34. Comparison of Densety of Spelt and Sativum Segrecates of Two F3 Progentes, One Homozygous Dense but Heterozygous for Spelting, the Other Homozygous Lax but Heterozygous for Spelting (Series 13255a, Dale Gloria x White Spelt)

	Difference	between		0 43
	Number	of plants	21 12	35
		Mean	2 00 1.57	4 222 2 76
		1 9	1 1	
		1~		***
		1-2		
1			1	
		*		C I
				L-
	_	0		
	fers	7 3		
	Ime	~	::	¢1 :
	im i	3 5	::	67
	h (ìr	3 33	::	
	engt			
	de l	9 3		
	erno	03		9
	e int	2 7	¢4 ;	1-
	erag	43 63		c73
	VV.	~		
		°1	50	,
		-	6	
		1 2	ac 🖦	
		5 1		: :
		_	2	
			dens	ax .
		Type	Homozygous Spelts Sativums	Homozyzous Spelts. Satruma
		Pedigree	92	-28

*SsCC*, and *ssCC* plants. The mean internode length of the lax spelts, as shown in table 34, was 4.22 millimeters; that of the *sativums* was 2.76 millimeters, showing a difference of 1.46. Of the plants homozygous for the density factor, the dense spelts had a mean internode length of 2.00 millimeters and the dense *sativums* one of 1.57, showing a difference of 0.43 millimeter.

From these results it is seen that, although the internode length of the spelts can be shortened by the introduction of the C factor, the presence of the S factor tends to interfere with the effect which a known C factor would otherwise produce.

The relation of the S factor to density is the same as the relation of this same factor to squareheadedness. It has already been shown that the presence of factors for squareheading have a very slight effect on the heads that carry the factor for spelting.

## THE SYNTHETIC PRODUCTION OF TRITICUM COMPACTUM

Triticum compactum, as has already been shown, is but a form of Tr. sativum, which carries an additional factor or factors for compactness. The results of crosses between different species show that this same factor can be carried as well by any of the other species of Triticum. In fact, there will be found in commercial strains species that carry density factors, though not necessarily the same factor. Many forms of durum, and especially of dicoccum, carry a density factor. When these are crossed with a lax vulgare form, compact forms invariably appear in varying proportions, and, depending on the genotypic forms of the plant, some of these compact forms breed true while others segregate.

In order to produce compact forms, it is not necessary that one of the parents should be a dense form. If the plant is carrying an inhibiting factor besides the factor for density, it may appear lax although it has the potentiality of producing dense forms. Thus, Black Bearded Spelt, which has been used by the author, is perfectly lax, but when crossed with *vulgare* it produces lax spelts in the  $F_1$ , and in the  $F_2$  an appreciable number of perfectly dense forms. The White Winter Spelt, on the other hand, produces no compact forms. The Black Bearded Spelt, then, carries a factor for compactness and also an inhibiting factor. Certain

forms of *turgidum, durum*, and even *polonicum* also have the ability to produce dense types in the  $F_2$ .

The writer has had no experience with *vulgare* crosses which have produced compact forms in the  $F_2$ ; and unless the inhibiting factor is closely linked with the factors producing a certain specific form, it seems possible that certain *vulgare* forms will be met with which, although carrying the density factor, will be lax because of the presence of an inhibiting factor.

The mode of inheritance of density in some species crosses is very complex, because new specific forms arise in such crosses, each of which is affected in a peculiar way by the density factor. Besides factors for inhibition, many modifiers also may be involved. Often irregulariies are produced by the failure of development or maturation of some forms which seem to carry combinations of growth factors that restrict growth or cause various anomalies. Before being able to analyze from a factorial point of view the inheritance of density in such crosses, it is necessary to know in what proportions the various specific forms segregate.

There are two cases which suggest that compact or semi-compact vulgare forms have been obtained through crossing two vulgare forms. De Vilmorin (1913) cites two instances in which lax forms produced dwarf forms. The dwarf plant, a photograph of which accompanies the text, appears to be a compact form much denser than the plant from which it mutated. It may also be possible that these cases were natural crosses with a compactum pollen, since segregation of other characters occurred also. Another case is that mentioned by Neethling (1918), in which tall *vulgare* forms crossed among themselves vielded dwarf forms. The latter behaved as recessives. The statement is made that the dwarf plants had short ears, but nothing is said about density. If these were compactum forms, the fact that these dwarf forms appeared in a proportion somewhat less than 25 per cent tends to lend support to the possibility that the parent which carried the density factor carried also a factor inhibiting the production of dense forms. Until more is learned about the behavior of the F₂ in the F₂, no definite explanation can be given to account for its mode of inheritance.

In Plate LXVII (lower) are shown a number of dense forms of different wheat species, most of these being synthetically produced in interspecific crosses. Some show both compactness and squareheadedness; others show one of these characters in the absence of the other. Körnicke (1885) has observed dense and squarehead varieties in other wheat species. He gives the following botanical varieties: *Triticum durum* Desf. var. compactum Sér., *Tr. polonicum* L. var. compactum Link., *Tr. polonicum* L. var. quadratum Sér., and *Tr. turgidum* L. var. quadratum Sér.

Density, or the excessive shortening of the rachis internodes, is not confined to the genus Triticum. Dense forms are common both in barley and in rye.

The question of the origin of  $Tr.\ compactum$  becomes simplified if it is recalled that this form may be produced when a saticuum form is crossed with another wheat species, and also that natural crossing occurs not infrequently. Such being the case, one would expect  $Tr.\ compactum$  to be practically as old a form as any of the other species, and, so far as archaeological evidences go, cultivation of  $Tr.\ compac$ tum has been traced as far back as the Stone Age. Buschan (1895) states that this compact form has been found in the remains of caves and lake dwellings and among other prehistoric relics in regions extending from Egypt to central Europe and to Sweden. According to Unger (1860), the culture of wheat has been traced back to the year 3623 B. C., and hence its origin must be older still.

If interspecific crosses between *vulgare* and other forms are able to produce compact forms, it seems that the first origin of Tr. compactum should have followed that of Tr. vulgare. Undoubtedly Tr. compactum has reappeared many times in the same manner, for the appearance of this form in interspecific crosses is rather common. Tr. compactum may be a mutational form of vulgare, although there is no dependable evidence regarding this possibility for vulgare wheats. There is a parallel example in the case of the rye known as "Heinrich-Roggen" (Hillmann, 1910: 579). This is a very compact form of rye which is said to have appeared in 1880 as a mutation on a single ear.

#### SUM MARY

The density studies reported herein were made primarily on the progeny of a number of crosses in which the dense parent was Dale Gloria (*Triticum compactum*), with an average internode length of about 1.41 millimeters.

Density was found to be dominant over laxness. The ratios obtained approached 3:I. The heterozygous forms were somewhat laxer than the homozygous dense forms, but by no means intermediate between the dense and the lax parents. The  $F_2$  curves were bi-modal and discontinuous.

The  $F_s$  plants showed various degrees of density within the dense and the lax classes. Proofs are given in the text showing that these variations are hereditary and are the result of the segregation of modifiers or of additional density factors capable of producing density only within short ranges.

Experimental evidence is cited suggesting that different density factors form allelomorphic series, and other evidence that they belong to multiple series.

Squareheadedness and density were found to represent two different characters. Hybrid progenies showed all types and grades of combinations between these two characters.

The process of squareheading was found to shorten the average internode length. The effect on density thus produced, however, is slight.

The phenotypic transmission of the squareheadedness of Dale Gloria is dependent on the type of the lax non-squarehead parent. In some crosses there was a large proportion of lax squarehead forms in the  $F_2$ , while in others there were none of these forms.

Although in  $F_2$  progenies resulting from dense and lax crosses an almost perfect correlation exists between rachis length and density, these two characters are not necessarily correlated. Rachis length is the indirect product of average internode length and number of internodes. The correlation between density and rachis length becomes less and less as the difference between the number of internodes of the parental forms increases.

High degrees of correlation were found between average internode

length and length of culm, length of sterile glumes, and length of kernels, and average rachilla internode length. These, together with other observations, show that density and the shortening of these other length characters are the result of a single dwarfing factor.

Plants exhibiting the spelt character are not as much affected by the density factor as are those that show *sativum* characters.

Compact forms may be produced by crossing a lax *sativum* with lax forms of other species. Dense forms may also appear occasionally in crosses where neither parent is a *sativum*. Compactness is not a characteristic of *sativum* forms; other species also may exhibit this character.

## LITERATURE CITED

BATESON, W. Mendel's principles of heredity, p. 1-396. 1909.

- BIFFEN, R. H. Mendel's laws of inheritance and wheat breeding. Journ. agr. sci. 1:4-48. 1905.
- BOSHNAKIAN, S. The comparative efficiency of indexes of density, and a new coefficient for measuring squareheadedness in wheat. Amer. Soc. Agron. Journ. 9:231-247. 1917.
- BUSCHAN, GEORG. Triticum. In Vorgeschichtliche Botanik der Culturund Nutzpflanzen der alten Welt auf Grund prähistorischer Funde, p. 1-34. 1895.
- EDLER, W. Die Achrenform des Squarchead in ihrer Beziehung zur Ertragsfähigkeit verschiedener Zuchten. Illus. landw. Ztg. (*Cited in* Die deutsche landwirtschaftliche Pflanzenzucht [Hillmann].) 1903.
- HILLMANN, PAUL (Editor). Die deutsche landwirtschaftliche Pflanzenzucht, p. 1-603. 1910.
- Körnicke, Friedr. Der Weizen. In Die Arten und Varietäten des Getreides. Handbuch des Getreidebaues 1:22-114. 1885.
- LEIGHTY, CLYDE E., AND BOSHNAKIAN, SARKIS. Genetic behavior of the spelt form in crosses between *Triticum spelta and Triticum sativum*. Journ. agr. research 22:335-364. 1921.
- MALL, W. Die Ergebnisse verschiedener Getreidebastardierungen. Deut. landw. Presse 39:164. 1912.
- MEYER, KARL. Über den Einfluss verschieden hohen Wassergehalts des Bodens in den einzelnen Vegetationsstadien bei verschiedener N-Düngung auf die Entwicklung des Göttinger begrannten Squarehead-Winterweizens. Journ. Landw. 57:351-384. 1909.
- NEETHLING, J. H. A preliminary note on dwarfs appearing in Gluyas Early (wheat) hybrids. South African journ. sci. 14:540-547. 1918.
- NILSSON-EHLE, H. Kreuzungsuntersuchungen an Hafer und Weizen. II. Lunds Univ. Arsskr. 2:7⁶: 1-84. 1911.
- OHLMER, W. Über den Einfluss der Düngung und der Bodenfeuchtigkeit bei gleichem Standraum auf die Anlage und Ausbildung der Achre und die Ausbildung der Kolbenform beim Göttinger begrannten Squarehead-Winterweizen. Journ. Landw. 56:153-171. 1908.
- PARKER, W. H. Lax and dense-eared wheats. Journ. agr. sci. 6: 371-386. 1914.

- PREUL, FRANZ. Untersuchungen über den Einfluss verschieden hohen Wassergehaltes des Bodens in den einzelnen. Vegetationsstadien bei verschiedenem Bodenreichtum auf die Entwickelung der Sommerweizenpflanze. Journ. Landw. 56: 229-271. 1908.
- RIMPAU, W. Kreuzungsprodukte landwirtschaftlicher Kulturpflanzen. Landw. Jahrb. 20:335-369. 1891.
- RUEMKER, K. von. Methoden der Pflanzenzüchtung in experimenteller Prüfung. Landw. Inst. Breslau. Mitteil. 5:1-322. 1909.
- SAPEHIN, A., AND OTHERS. Analyse hybridologique des caractères correlatives chez le froment. I. (In Russian. Summary in French.) Imp. Agr. Inst. Southern Russia 862: 455-544. 1916.
- SPILLMAN, W. J. Quantitative studies on the transmission of parental characters to hybrid offspring. In Proceedings of the fifteenth annual convention of the Association of American Agricultural Colleges and Experiment Stations. U. S. Dept. Agr., Office Exp. Sta. Bul. 115: 88-98. 1902.
- STRAMPELLI, NAZARENO. Alla ricerca e creazione di nuove varietà di frumenti a mezzo dell' ibridazione. R. Staz. Sper Granicolt. Rieti 1907:74. 1907.
- TSCHERMAK, E. VON. Bastardierung. In Die Züchtung der landwirtschaftlichen Kulturpflanzen, by Č. Fruwirth, 4: 164-187. 1910.
- UNGER, F. Botanische Streifzüge auf dem Gebiete der Culturgeschichte. K. Akad. Wiss. [Vienna], Math-Natur. Cl. Sitzber. 38:69-140. 1860
- VILMORIN, PHILLIPPE DE. Sur une race de blé nain infixable. Journ. gen. 3:67-76. 1913.
- WILSON, JOHN H. The hybridisation of cereals. Journ. agr. sci. 2:68-88. 1907.

Memoir 46, A Classification of the Cultivated Varieties of Barley, the seventh preceding number in this series of publications, was mailed on March 16, 1922.
 Memoir 47, Typho Insects: Their Ecological Relationships, was mailed on December 30, 1921.
 Memoir 48, The Inheritance of Salmon Silk Color in Maize. was mailed on January 30, 1922.
 Memoir 49, The Biology of Ephydra subopaca Loew, was mailed on February 16, 1922.



